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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors 

Minnesota Life Insurance Company: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Minnesota Life Insurance Company 

and subsidiaries (collectively, the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of 

December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 

income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 

2017, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 

maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of Minnesota Life Insurance Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 

2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 

ended December 31, 2017 in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership and the U.S. member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

KPMG LLP
4200 Wells Fargo Center
90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402



 

Other Matters 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole. The information contained in Schedule I, Schedule III, and Schedule IV are presented for purposes of 

additional analysis and are not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the 

responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 

records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 

auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional 

procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 

other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements 

themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 

March 6, 2018 
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Assets 2017 2016

    Fixed maturity securities:     

      Available-for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost $15,442,991 and $13,395,845) 16,108,505$      13,759,520$      

    Equity securities:

      Available-for-sale, at fair value (cost $456,162 and $489,747) 544,767             552,488             

    Mortgage loans, net 3,042,230          2,544,437          

    Finance receivables, net -                     292,908             

    Policy loans 474,133             426,971             

    Alternative investments 641,322             622,676             

    Derivative instruments 500,994             365,143             

    Other invested assets 75,344               58,952               

      Total investments 21,387,295        18,623,095        

    Cash and cash equivalents 375,291             359,818             

    Deferred policy acquisition costs 1,357,484          1,367,185          

    Accrued investment income 165,963             151,893             

    Premiums and fees receivable 357,215             301,158             

    Property and equipment, net 172,042             104,481             

    Reinsurance recoverables 1,216,269          1,151,198          

    Goodwill and intangible assets, net 135,100             139,857             

    Other assets 114,467             124,570             

    Separate account assets 24,923,698        21,349,837        

         Total assets 50,204,824$      43,673,092$      

Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities:

 

    Policy and contract account balances 12,029,018$      10,580,481$      

    Future policy and contract benefits 4,576,727          3,297,927          

    Pending policy and contract claims 577,801             550,793             

    Other policyholder funds 1,511,056          1,513,231          

    Policyholder dividends payable 20,815               22,633               

    Unearned premiums and fees 339,280             399,474             

    Pension and other postretirement benefits 7,525                 10,292               

    Income tax liability:

       Current 22,446               5,565                 

       Deferred 210,240             218,408             

    Accrued commissions and expenses 219,967             208,242             

    Other liabilities 630,390             824,530             

    Short-term debt 20,000               50,000               

    Long-term debt 468,000             468,000             

    Separate account liabilities 24,923,698        21,349,837        

      Total liabilities 45,556,963        39,499,413        

Equity:

    Common stock, $1 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized,

       issued and outstanding 5,000                 5,000                 

 Additional paid in capital 214,095             196,254             

 Accumulated other comprehensive income 420,063             200,766             

 Retained earnings 3,980,932          3,742,197          

      Total Minnesota Life Insurance Company and subsidiaries equity 4,620,090          4,144,217          

 Noncontrolling interests 27,771               29,462               

         Total equity 4,647,861          4,173,679          

            Total liabilities and equity 50,204,824$      43,673,092$      

MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2017 and 2016

(in thousands)



   See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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2017 2016 2015

Revenues:

Premiums 3,561,233$       2,471,733$       2,220,467$       

Policy and contract fees 748,773            706,212            688,434            

Net investment income 786,682            726,176            689,137            

Net realized investment gains (losses)

Other-than-temporary-impairments on fixed maturity securities (7,553)               (777)                  (16,569)             

Other net realized investment gains (losses) 60,078              (3,769)               26,212              

Total net realized investment gains (losses) 52,525              (4,546)               9,643                

Finance charge income 24,597              95,453              92,393              

Commission income 194,060            188,024            168,528            

Other income 94,298              73,096              73,232              

  Total revenues 5,462,168         4,256,148         3,941,834         

Benefits and expenses:

Policyholder benefits 3,462,327         2,399,667         2,109,142         

Interest credited to policies and contracts 470,980            438,642            401,659            

General operating expenses 759,331            760,299            713,302            

Commissions 411,789            436,181            432,467            

Administrative and sponsorship fees 92,646              78,584              75,082              

Dividends to policyholders 3,314                3,817                4,678                

Interest expense 14,086              11,700              10,639              

Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs 178,009            210,647            212,045            

Capitalization of policy acquisition costs (354,230)           (361,563)           (361,349)           

  Total benefits and expenses 5,038,252         3,977,974         3,597,665         

  Income from operations before taxes 423,916            278,174            344,169            

Income tax expense (benefit):

Current 131,116            97,425              46,027              

Deferred (135,745)           (32,860)             48,153              

Total income tax expense (benefit) (4,629)               64,565              94,180              

Net income 428,545            213,609            249,989            

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,105                409                   468                   

Net income attributable to Minnesota Life Insurance Company

and subsidiaries 427,440$          213,200$          249,521$          

Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period 334,140$          124,139$          (463,641)$         

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities - other than temporary impairments (2,270)               1,734                (2,129)               

Adjustment to deferred policy acquisition costs (190,594)           (82,037)             208,912            

Adjustment to reserves 27,240              12,032              22,718              

Adjustment to unearned premiums and fees 168,605            72,377              (106,247)           

Adjustment to pension and other retirement plans (1,985)               305                   3,952                

Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 335,136            128,550            (336,435)           

Income tax benefit (expense) related to items of other comprehensive income (115,839)           (44,779)             117,620            

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 219,297            83,771              (218,815)           

Comprehensive income 647,842            297,380            31,174              

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,105                409                   468                   

Comprehensive income attributable to Minnesota Life Insurance

   Company and subsidiaries 646,737$          296,971$          30,706$            

MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations  and Comprehensive Income

Years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(in thousands)
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Accumulated Minnesota Life

Additional other Insurance

Common paid in comprehensive Retained Company and Noncontrolling Total

stock capital income earnings subsidiaries equity interests equity

2015:

Balance, beginning of year 5,000$        196,254$    335,810$            3,281,476$   3,818,540$               31,605$            3,850,145$     

Comprehensive income:

Net income -              -              -                      249,521        249,521                    468                   249,989          

Other comprehensive loss -              -              (218,815)             -                (218,815)                   -                    (218,815)        

Total comprehensive income 30,706                      468                   31,174            

Change in equity of

   noncontrolling interests -              -              -                      -                -                            (1,386)               (1,386)            

Balance, end of year 5,000$        196,254$    116,995$            3,530,997$   3,849,246$               30,687$            3,879,933$     

2016:

Balance, beginning of year 5,000$        196,254$    116,995$            3,530,997$   3,849,246$               30,687$            3,879,933$     

Comprehensive income:

Net income -              -              -                      213,200        213,200                    409                   213,609          

Other comprehensive income -              -              83,771                -                83,771                      -                    83,771            

Total comprehensive income 296,971                    409                   297,380          

Dividends to stockholder -              -              -                      (2,000)           (2,000)                       -                    (2,000)            

Change in equity of

   noncontrolling interests -              -              -                      -                -                            (1,634)               (1,634)            

Balance, end of year 5,000$        196,254$    200,766$            3,742,197$   4,144,217$               29,462$            4,173,679$     

2017:

Balance, beginning of year 5,000$        196,254$    200,766$            3,742,197$   4,144,217$               29,462$            4,173,679$     

Comprehensive income:

Net income -              -              -                      427,440        427,440                    1,105                428,545          

Other comprehensive income -              -              219,297              -                219,297                    -                    219,297          

Total comprehensive income 646,737                    1,105                647,842          

Dividends to stockholder -              -              -                      (188,705)       (188,705)                   -                    (188,705)        

Contributions to additional paid in capital -              17,841        -                      -                17,841                      -                    17,841            

Change in equity of

   noncontrolling interests -              -              -                      -                -                            (2,796)               (2,796)            

Balance, end of year 5,000$        214,095$    420,063$            3,980,932$   4,620,090$               27,771$            4,647,861$     

MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(in thousands)
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities 2017 2016 2015

Net income 428,545$       213,609$       249,989$       

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Interest credited to annuity and insurance contracts 254,665         257,848         258,830         

Fees deducted from policy and contract balances (546,015)        (511,113)        (476,389)        

Change in future policy benefits 1,322,592      305,422         59,742           

Change in other policyholder liabilities, net (106,521)        577,282         123,827         

Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs 178,009         210,647         212,045         

Capitalization of policy acquisition costs (354,230)        (361,563)        (361,349)        

Change in premiums and fees receivable (56,057)          4,114             (28,833)          

Deferred tax provision (135,745)        (32,860)          48,153           

Change in income tax recoverables / liabilities - current 17,127           15,806           (4,462)            

Net realized investment losses (gains) (52,525)          4,546             (9,643)            

Change in reinsurance recoverables (65,071)          (23,478)          8,673             

Other, net 102,592         28,664           61,024           

            Net cash provided by operating activities 987,366         688,924         141,607         

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from sales of:

Fixed maturity securities 3,279,847      3,266,663      2,003,169      

Equity securities 286,719         288,190         287,535         

Alternative investments 130,997         104,581         87,763           

Derivative instruments 463,171         206,895         238,574         

Other invested assets 298,737         2,509             25,679           

Proceeds from maturities and repayments of:

Fixed maturity securities 990,429         1,001,019      1,075,583      

Mortgage loans 218,598         221,902         306,273         

Purchases and originations of:

Fixed maturity securities (6,247,888)     (5,383,602)     (4,047,304)     

Equity securities (231,366)        (310,755)        (361,671)        

Mortgage loans (715,371)        (643,688)        (494,248)        

Alternative investments (101,583)        (105,648)        (111,107)        

Derivative instruments (306,836)        (266,110)        (289,510)        

Other invested assets (12,993)          (4,787)            (22,131)          

Finance receivable originations or purchases (55,200)          (222,528)        (220,575)        

Finance receivable principal payments 65,824           199,090         194,355         

Securities in transit 3,161             (39,769)          43,717           

Other, net (420,845)        (154,800)        (46,814)          

            Net cash used for investing activities (2,354,599)     (1,840,838)     (1,330,712)     

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Deposits credited to annuity and insurance contracts 4,837,422      3,973,399      3,678,808      

Withdrawals from annuity and insurance contracts (3,249,602)     (2,813,716)     (2,575,133)     

Change in amounts drawn in excess of cash balances 47,884           (26,325)          (8,628)            

Proceeds from issuance of short-term debt 80,000           275,000         200,000         

Payment on short-term debt (110,000)        (275,000)        (200,000)        

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 200,000         100,000         50,000           

Payment on long-term debt (200,000)        -                 (75,000)          

Dividends paid to stockholder (185,142)        -                 -                 

Other, net (37,856)          10,772           10,140           

            Net cash provided by financing activities 1,382,706      1,244,130      1,080,187      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,473           92,216           (108,918)        

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 359,818         267,602         376,520         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 375,291$       359,818$       267,602$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(in thousands)

MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
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(1) Nature of Operations 
 

Organization and Description of Business 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Minnesota Life Insurance Company (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Securian Financial Group, Inc. (SFG)) and its subsidiaries. Minnesota Life Insurance Company, both 
directly and through its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company), provides a diversified array of insurance, retirement and 
investment products and services designed principally to protect and enhance the long-term financial security of individuals 
and families. 

 
The Company, which operates in the United States, generally offers the following types of products directly and through its 
various subsidiaries: 
 

• Fixed, indexed and variable universal life, term life and whole life insurance products to individuals through affiliated 
and independent channel partners. 

• Immediate and deferred annuities, with fixed, indexed, and variable investment options through affiliated and 
independent channel partners. 

• Financial advice, investment advisory, and wealth management services. 

• Group life insurance and voluntary products to private and public employers. 

• Customized retirement options to employers and investment firms through affiliated and independent channel 
partners as well as direct relationships. 

• Life insurance protection through banks, credit unions, and finance companies along with distribution of financial 
institution products and services. 

• Investment and asset management services.  
 

The Company serves nearly 14 million people through more than 5,000 home office associates and field representatives 
located at its St. Paul, Minnesota headquarters and in sales offices nationwide. 
 
During October 2016, the Company entered into a membership interest purchase agreement to sell its consumer finance 
company, Personal Finance Company LLC (PFC), whose revenues are primarily represented by finance charge income. 
Held-for-sale criteria was satisfied in 2016 and, as of December 31, 2016, the Company held PFC at its carrying value which 
is lower than its fair value less cost to sell. The transaction closed effective March 31, 2017. 
 

 (2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Basis of Presentation 
  
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Minnesota Life Insurance 
Company and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.  

 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions that affect reported assets and liabilities, including reporting or disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Future events, 
including but not limited to, changes in policyholder mortality, policyholder morbidity, interest rates and asset valuations, could 
cause actual results to differ from the estimates used in the consolidated financial statements, and such changes in estimates 
are generally recorded on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period in which they 
are made. 
 
The most significant estimates include those used in determining the balance and amortization of deferred policy acquisition 
costs, unearned premiums and fees, and reinsurance recoverables for traditional and nontraditional insurance products, 
policyholder liabilities, valuation of and impairment losses on investments, valuation allowances or impairments for mortgage 
loans on real estate, income taxes, goodwill, intangible assets, and pension and other postretirement employee benefits 
obligation. Although some variability is inherent in these estimates, the recorded amounts reflect management’s best estimates 
based on facts and circumstances as of the balance sheet date. Management believes the amounts provided are appropriate. 
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Insurance Revenues and Expenses  
 

Premiums on traditional life insurance products, which include individual whole life and term insurance and immediate and 
supplemental annuities paid for life, are recognized as revenue when due. For accident and health and group life insurance 
products, premiums are recognized as revenue over the contract period when earned. To the extent that this revenue is 
unearned, it is reported as part of unearned premiums and fees on the consolidated balance sheets. Benefits and expenses 
are recognized in relation to premiums over the contract period via a provision for future policyholder benefits and the 
amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs. 
 
Nontraditional life insurance products include individual fixed, indexed and variable universal life insurance and adjustable life  
insurance and group universal and variable universal life insurance. Revenue from nontraditional life insurance products and 
deferred annuities is comprised of policy and contract fees charged for the cost of insurance, policy administration and 
surrenders and is assessed on a daily or monthly basis and recognized as revenue when assessed and earned. Variable and 
fixed indexed annuity guaranteed benefit rider charges are recognized as revenue when assessed. Expenses include both the 
portion of claims not covered by and the interest credited to the related policy and contract account balances. Deferred policy 
acquisition costs are amortized relative to the emergence of estimated gross profits. 
 
Any premiums on both traditional and nontraditional products due as of the date of the consolidated financial statements that 
have not yet been received and posted are included in premiums and fees receivable on the consolidated balance sheets.  
 
Certain nontraditional life insurance products, specifically individual universal life, variable life and adjustable life insurance, 
require payment of fees in advance for services that will be rendered over the estimated lives of the policies. These payments 
are established as unearned revenue reserves upon receipt and are included in unearned premiums and fees on the 
consolidated balance sheets. These unearned revenue reserves are amortized over the estimated lives of these policies and 
contracts in relation to the emergence of estimated gross profits. Unearned revenue reserves are adjusted to reflect the impact 
of unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities available-for-sale. The adjustment represents the changes in 
amortization that would have been recorded had such unrealized amounts been realized. This adjustment is recorded through 
other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.  

 
Commission Income 
 
Commission income on insurance products is recognized as earned, net of the amount required to be remitted to the various 
underwriters responsible for providing the policy. Commissions are refunded on cancelled policies based on the unearned 
portion of the premium payments.  
 
Commission income on investment related products is recognized on the date of sale. Related commission expense due to 
agents on such sales is also recognized on the date of sale.  
 
Administrative and Sponsorship Fees 

 
The Company pays administrative fees to financial institutions for administrative duties performed including, but not limited to, 
collection and remittance of premium, assistance with premium billing, communication with loan customers and other additional 
clerical functions. The expense due is estimated and accrued on a quarterly basis. The Company also pays certain financial 
institutions sponsorship fees which are primarily based on the loss experience of the business placed by the financial institution 
with the Company, which are estimated and accrued on a quarterly basis based on recent historical experience and are trued 
up at each profit sharing year-end which occur throughout the year. 
 
Valuation of Investments and Net Investment Income 
 
Fixed maturity securities, which may be sold prior to maturity, are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. 
Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted using the interest yield method. The Company recognizes the excess of 
all cash flows over the initial investment attributable to its beneficial interest in asset-backed securities estimated at the 
acquisition/transaction date as interest income over the life of the Company’s beneficial interest using the effective interest 
yield method. The Company does not accrete the discount for fixed maturity securities that are in default. 
  
The Company uses book value, defined as original cost adjusted for impairments and discount accretion or premium 
amortization, as cost for applying the retrospective adjustment method to loan-backed fixed maturity securities purchased. 
Prepayment assumptions for single class and multi-class mortgage-backed securities were obtained using a commercial 
software application or internal estimates.  
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Valuation of Investments and Net Investment Income (Continued) 

 
For non-structured fixed maturity securities, the Company recognizes interest income using the interest method without 
anticipating the impact of prepayments.  

 
For structured fixed maturity securities, excluding interest-only securities, the Company recognizes income using a constant 
effective yield method based on prepayment assumptions obtained from outside service providers or upon analyst review of 
the underlying collateral and the estimated economic life of the securities. When estimated prepayments differ from the 
anticipated prepayments, the effective yield is recalculated to reflect actual prepayments to date and anticipated future 
payments. Any resulting adjustment is included in net investment income.  
 
Equity securities are generally classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Mutual funds and exchange-traded 
fund investments are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value, which generally are quoted market prices of 
the funds’ net asset value. The Company recognizes dividend income on equity securities upon the declaration of the dividend. 

 
Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of adjustments to deferred policy 
acquisition costs, unearned premiums and fees, reserves and deferred income tax, reported as a separate component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income in equity.  
 
Mortgage loans and mortgage loans held for investment are carried at amortized cost less any valuation allowances. Premiums 
and discounts are amortized or accreted over the terms of the mortgage loans based on the effective interest yield method. 
Mortgage loans for which the Company has recorded a specific valuation allowance are held at the present value of the 
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or the estimated fair value of the loan's 
underlying collateral. 
 
Alternative investments include limited partnership investments in private equity, mezzanine debt and hedge funds. These 
investments are carried on the consolidated balance sheets using the equity method of accounting. The Company’s income 
from these alternative investments is included in net investment income or net realized investment gains (losses) on the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income based on information provided by the investee. The 
valuation of alternative investments is recorded based on the partnership financial statements from the previous quarter plus 
contributions and distributions during the fourth quarter. Changes in any undistributed amounts held by the investee are 
recorded, based on the Company’s ownership share, as realized gains or losses on the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive income. The Company evaluates partnership financial statements received subsequent to December 31 
up to the financial statement issue date for material fluctuations in order to determine if an adjustment should be recorded as 
of December 31. 
 
Real estate, included in other invested assets on the consolidated balance sheets, represents commercial real estate acquired 
in satisfaction of mortgage loan debt and other properties held for sale. Real estate is considered held for sale for accounting 
purposes and is carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated cost to sell.  

 
Policy loans are carried at the unpaid principal balance. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents of sufficient credit quality are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. The Company 
considers commercial paper with original maturity dates of less than three months and all money market funds to be cash 
equivalents. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions and, at times, these 
balances may be in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limit. 
 
A portion of the funds collected by the Company from its financial institution customers is restricted in its use because the 
Company is acting as an agent on behalf of certain insurance underwriters. As an agent, the Company has a fiduciary 
responsibility to remit the appropriate percentage of monies collected to the corresponding insurance underwriters. This sum 
of money is defined as unremitted premiums payable and is recorded in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as 
discussed in detail in note 15. The use of restricted funds is limited to the satisfaction of the unremitted premiums and claims 
payable owed to the underwriter.  
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Valuation of Investments and Net Investment Income (Continued) 

 
The amount of restricted cash reported in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets is $41,762 and 
$40,850 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
Finance receivables that management had the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff 
were reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances reduced by an allowance for loan losses. The interest rates on 
the receivables outstanding at December 31, 2016 were consistent with the rates at which loans would have been made to 
borrowers of similar credit quality and for the same maturities and security; as such, the carrying value of the receivables 
outstanding at December 31, 2016 approximate the fair value at that date. 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments 
 
The Company uses a variety of derivatives, including swaps, swaptions, futures, caps, floors, forwards and option contracts, 
to manage the risks associated with cash flows, interest crediting or changes in estimated fair values related to the Company’s 
financial instruments. The Company currently enters into derivative transactions that do not qualify for hedge accounting or in 
certain cases, elects not to utilize hedge accounting.  
 
Derivative instruments are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value of derivative instruments and economically hedged 
items recorded in net realized investment gains (losses) or, in the case of certain life insurance product economic hedging, in 
policyholder benefits on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. Interest income generated by 
derivative instruments is reported in net realized investment gains (losses) on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income. The Company does not offset the fair value amounts recognized for derivatives executed with the 
same counterparty under the same master netting agreement. 
 
Several life insurance and annuity products in the Company’s liability portfolio contain investment guarantees which are 
deemed to be embedded derivatives. These guarantees take the form of guaranteed withdrawal benefits on variable annuities, 
a guaranteed payout floor on a variable payout annuity, and indexed interest credits on both fixed indexed annuity and fixed 
indexed universal life products. The embedded derivative is bifurcated from the host insurance contract and accounted for as 
a freestanding derivative. Embedded derivatives are carried on the consolidated balance sheets at estimated fair value and 
are included within policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract benefits on the consolidated balance 
sheets. Changes in estimated fair value are reported in net realized investment gains (losses) or in policyholder benefits on 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.  
 
The Company holds “To-Be-Announced” (TBA) Government National Mortgage Association forward contracts that require the 
Company to take delivery of a mortgage-backed security at a settlement date in the future. A majority of the TBAs are settled 
at the first available period allowed under the contract. However, the deliveries of some of the Company’s TBA securities 
happen at a later date, thus extending the forward contract date. These derivative instruments are reported at fair value with 
the changes in fair value reported in net realized investment gains (losses) on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income.  
 
Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses 

 
Realized and unrealized gains and losses are determined using the specific security identification method. The Company 
regularly reviews each investment in its various asset classes to evaluate the necessity of recording impairment losses for 
other-than-temporary declines in fair value. During these reviews, the Company evaluates many factors, including, but not 
limited to, the length of time and the extent to which the current fair value has been below the cost of the security, specific 
credit issues such as collateral, financial prospects related to the issuer, the Company’s intent to hold or sell the security, and 
current economic conditions.  
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses (Continued) 
 
An other-than-temporary impairment (OTTI) is recognized in earnings for a fixed maturity security in an unrealized loss position 
when it is anticipated that the amortized cost will not be recovered. In such situations, the OTTI recognized in earnings is the 
entire difference between the fixed maturity security’s amortized cost and its fair value only when either the Company has the 
intent to sell the fixed maturity security or it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the fixed maturity 
security before recovery of the decline in the fair value below amortized cost. If neither of these two conditions exists, the 
difference between the amortized cost basis of the fixed maturity security and the present value of the projected future cash 
flows expected to be collected using the original purchase yield as the discount rate is recognized as an OTTI in earnings 
(credit loss). If the fair value is less than the present value of projected future cash flows expected to be collected, this portion 
of the OTTI related to other-than credit factors (noncredit loss) is recorded as an other comprehensive loss. When an unrealized 
loss on a fixed maturity security is considered temporary, the Company continues to record the unrealized loss in accumulated 
other comprehensive income and not in earnings. 
 
For non-structured fixed maturity securities, an OTTI is recorded when the Company does not expect to recover the entire 
amortized cost basis of the security. The Company estimates the credit component of the loss based on a number of various 
liquidation scenarios that it uses to assess the revised expected cash flows from the security.  
 
For structured fixed maturity securities, an OTTI is recorded when the Company believes that based on expected discounted 
cash flows, the Company will not recover all amounts due under the contractual terms of the security. The credit loss 
component considers inputs from outside sources, including but not limited to, default rates, delinquency rates, loan to collateral 
ratios, third-party guarantees, current levels of subordination, vintage, geographic concentration, credit ratings and other 
information that management deems relevant in forming its assessment. 
 
The Company utilizes an accretable yield which is the equivalent of book yield at purchase date as the factor to discount the 
cash flows. The book yield is also analyzed to see if it warrants any changes due to prepayment assumptions. 
 
For available-for-sale equity securities, an OTTI is recorded when the Company does not have the ability and intent to hold the 
security until forecasted recovery, or if the forecasted recovery is not within a reasonable period. When an OTTI has occurred, 
the entire difference between the equity security’s cost and its fair value is charged to earnings. Equity securities that have 
been in an unrealized loss position of greater than 20% for longer than six months are reviewed specifically using available 
third party information based on the investee’s current financial condition, liquidity, near-term recovery prospects, and other 
factors. In addition, all equity securities that have an unrealized loss position greater than $100 are reviewed based on the 
individual characteristics of the security. For all such equity security considerations, the Company further considers the 
likelihood of recovery within a reasonable period of time, as well as the intent and ability to hold such securities.  
  
All other material unrealized losses are reviewed for any unusual event that may trigger an OTTI. Determination of the status 
of each analyzed investment as other-than-temporarily impaired or not is made based on these evaluations with documentation 
of the rationale for the decision. 

 

The Company may, from time to time, sell invested assets subsequent to the balance sheet date that were considered 
temporarily impaired at the balance sheet date for several reasons. The rationale for the change in the Company’s intent to 
sell generally focuses on unforeseen changes in the economic facts and circumstances related to the invested asset 
subsequent to the balance sheet date, significant unforeseen changes in the Company’s liquidity needs, or changes in tax 
laws or the regulatory environment. The Company had no material sales of invested assets, previously considered OTTI or in 
an unrealized loss position, subsequent to the balance sheet dates for either December 31, 2017 or 2016. 
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Realized and Unrealized Gains and Losses (Continued) 
 
The mortgage loan valuation allowance is estimated based on an evaluation of known and inherent risks within the loan portfolio 
and consists of an evaluation of a specific loan loss allowance and a general loan loss allowance. A specific loan loss allowance 
is recognized when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all 
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. A nonperforming loan is defined as a loan that is not performing 
to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Examples of nonperforming loans may include delinquent loans, requests for 
forbearance and loans in the process of foreclosure. The specific valuation allowance is equal to the excess carrying value of 
the loan over the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate, or, if the 
loan is in the process of foreclosure or otherwise collateral dependent, the estimated fair value of the loan’s underlying 
collateral, less estimated selling costs. Mortgage loans that are deemed uncollectible are generally written-off against the 
valuation allowance, and recoveries, if any, are credited to the valuation allowance. The Company may recognize a general 
loan loss valuation allowance when it is probable that a credit event has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably 
estimated. Changes in the valuation allowance are recorded in net realized investment gains (losses) on the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income. 
 
For a small portion of the portfolio, classified as troubled debt restructurings (TDRs), the Company grants concessions related 
to the borrowers’ financial difficulties. The types of concessions may include: a permanent or temporary modification of the 
interest rate, extension of the maturity date at a lower interest rate and/or a reduction of accrued interest. If a loan is considered 
a TDR, the Company impairs the loan and records a specific valuation allowance, if applicable.  
 
Separate Accounts 

 
Separate account assets and liabilities represent segregated funds administered by an unaffiliated asset management firm. 
These segregated funds are invested by both an unaffiliated asset management firm and an affiliate of the Company for the 
exclusive benefit of the Company’s pension, variable annuity and variable life insurance policyholders and contractholders. 
Assets consist principally of marketable securities and are reported at the fair value of the investments held in the segregated 
funds. Investment income and gains and losses accrue directly to the policyholders and contractholders. The activity of the 
separate accounts is not reflected on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income except for the 
fees the Company received, which are assessed on a daily or monthly basis and recognized as revenue when assessed and 
earned, and the activity related to guaranteed minimum death and withdrawal benefits.  
 
The Company periodically invests money in its separate accounts. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the fair value of these 
investments included within equity securities, available-for-sale on the consolidated balance sheets was $63,390 and $55,430, 
respectively. 
 
Finance Charge Income and Receivables 
 

The Company’s finance receivables portfolio primarily was comprised of smaller balance homogeneous loans. The loans were 
originated in-person, at a branch location or through responding to an offer to lend, sent via mail. The Company also held a 
smaller portfolio of retail installment notes that were primarily originated through contracts with retail stores within the same 
regions as the branch locations. 
 
The Company had the intent and ability to hold the finance receivables for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoffs. 
The finance receivables were reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances reduced by an allowance for losses. 
 
The Company used the interest (actuarial) method of accounting for unearned finance charges and interest on finance 
receivables. Finance receivables were reported net of unearned finance charges. Accrual of finance charges, interest and late 
fees on smaller balance and homogeneous finance receivables was suspended once an account has recognized 60-days of 
accrued charges. The account was subsequently accounted for on a cash basis. Accrual was resumed when there were less 
than 60-days of accrued charges. Accrual of finance charges and interest was suspended on finance receivables at the earlier 
of when they are contractually past due for more than 30 days or if they were considered by management to be impaired. Loan 
servicing fees, extension fees and late charges included in other income on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income totaled $4, $14 and $14 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

Finance Charge Income and Receivables (Continued) 
 

The majority of the Company’s finance receivables were smaller balance homogeneous loans. These loans had traditionally 
been evaluated collectively for impairment. The Company had elected to bifurcate the finance receivables into three segments. 
The segments were evaluated independently from one another and an allowance applied via a direct charge to operations 
through the provision for credit losses at an amount, which in management’s judgement, based on the overall risk 
characteristics of the segment, changes in the character or size of the segment and the level of nonperforming assets was 
adequate to absorb probable losses on existing receivables. Risk characteristics included consideration of historical loss 
experience, adjusted for current economic conditions such as delinquency rates, unemployment, and regulatory changes. The 
underlying assumptions, estimates, and assessments used were updated periodically to reflect management’s view of current 
conditions. Changes in estimates could have significantly affected the allowance for losses.  
 

It was the Company’s general policy to charge off finance receivable accounts (net of unearned finance charges) when they 
were deemed uncollectible or when no collections were received during the preceding six months, except for certain accounts 
that had been individually reviewed by management and were deemed to warrant further collection effort. 
 
The adequacy of the allowance for losses was highly dependent upon management’s estimates of variables affecting valuation, 
evaluations of performance and status, and the amounts and timing of future cash flows expected to have been received on 
impaired loans. Such estimates, evaluations, and cash flows would have been subject to frequent adjustments due to changing 
economic prospects of borrowers or collateral. These estimates were reviewed periodically and adjustments, if necessary, 
were recorded in the provision for credit losses in the periods in which they had become known. 
 
Impaired loans not considered TDRs were generally larger (greater than $50) real estate secured loans that were at least 
60 days past due. A loan was classified as impaired when, based upon current information and events, it was probable that 
the Company would have been unable to collect all amounts due according to all of the contractual terms of the loan agreement. 
A specific valuation allowance was calculated based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the 
loan’s effective interest rate or, as a practical expedient, at the observable market price of the loan or the fair value of the 
collateral if the loan was collateral dependent. Interest payments received on impaired loans were generally applied to principal 
unless the remaining principal balance was considered to be fully collectible. 
 
TDRs were those loans for which the Company had granted a concession to a borrower experiencing financial difficulties 
without the receipt of additional consideration at time of modification. TDRs generally occurred as a result of loan modifications 
forced by personal bankruptcy court rulings, where the Company was required to reduce the remaining future principal and/or 
interest payments on a loan, or due to a borrower rolling an existing loan into a newly issued loan with extended terms. The 
Company expected borrowers whose loans have been modified under those situations to have been able to meet their 
contractual obligations for the remaining term of the loan. As a result, the Company generally did not increase the general 
allowance already recognized, based on a TDR. 

 
Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs 

 
The costs after the effects of reinsurance, which relate directly to the successful acquisition of new or renewal contracts, are 
generally deferred to the extent recoverable from future premiums or expected gross profits. Deferrable costs that can be 
capitalized in the successful acquisition of new or renewal contracts include incremental direct costs of acquisitions, as well as 
certain costs related directly to acquisition activities such as underwriting, policy issuance and processing, medical and 
inspection and sales force contract selling. Deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC) are subject to loss recognition and 
recoverability testing at least annually. 
 
For traditional life insurance, accident and health and group life insurance products, DAC are amortized with interest over the 
premium paying period in proportion to the ratio of annual premium revenues to ultimate premium revenues. The ultimate 
premium revenues are estimated based upon the same assumptions used to calculate the future policy benefits and the 
assumptions are locked.  

 

For nontraditional life insurance products and deferred annuities, DAC are amortized with interest over the expected life of the 
contracts in relation to the present value of actual and estimated future gross profits from investment, mortality, expense, and 
lapse margins. The Company reviews actuarial assumptions used to project estimated gross profits, such as mortality, 
persistency, expenses, investment returns and separate account returns, periodically throughout the year. These assumptions 
reflect the Company’s best estimate of future experience.  
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (Continued) 

 
For future separate account return assumptions, the Company utilizes a mean reversion process. The Company determines 
an initial starting date (anchor date) to which a long-term separate account return assumption is applied in order to project an 
estimated mean return. The Company’s future long-term separate account return assumptions ranged from 6.50% to 7.25% 
at December 31, 2017 and 2016 depending on the block of business, reflecting differences in contract holder fund allocations 
between fixed income and equity investments. Factors regarding economic outlook and management’s current view of the 
capital markets along with a historical analysis of long-term investment returns are considered in developing the Company’s 
long-term separate account return assumption. If the actual separate account return varies from the long-term assumption, a 
modified yield assumption is projected over the next five years such that the mean return equals the long-term assumption. 
The modified yield assumption is not permitted to be negative or in excess of 15% during the five-year reversion period. 
 
Changes in assumptions can have a significant impact on the amount of DAC reported for nontraditional life insurance products 
and deferred annuities, and the related amortization patterns. In the event actual experience differs from expected experience 
or future assumptions are revised to reflect management’s new best estimate, the Company records an increase or decrease 
in DAC amortization expense, which could be significant. Any resulting impact to financial results from a change in an 
assumption is included in amortization of DAC on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.  
 
DAC are adjusted to reflect the impact of unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity securities available-for-sale. The 
adjustment represents the changes in amortization that would have been recorded had such unrealized amounts been realized. 
This adjustment is recorded through other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income. 

 

The Company assesses internal replacements on insurance contracts to determine whether such modifications significantly 
change the contract terms. An internal replacement represents a modification in product benefits, features, rights or coverages 
that occurs by the exchange of an insurance contract for a new insurance contract, or by amendment, endorsement or rider to 
a contract, or by the election of a feature or coverage within a contract. If the modification substantially changes the contract, 
the remaining DAC on the original contract are immediately expensed and any new DAC on the replacement contract are 
deferred. If the contract modification does not substantially change the contract, DAC amortization on the original contract 
continues and any new acquisition costs associated with the modification are immediately expensed. 

 
Sales Inducements 

 
The Company defers sales inducements and amortizes them over the life of the policy utilizing the same methodology and 
assumptions used to amortize DAC. Deferred sales inducements are included in other assets on the consolidated balance 
sheets. The Company offers sales inducements for individual annuity products that credits the policyholder with a higher 
interest rate than the normal general account interest rate for the first year of the deposit and another sales inducement that 
offers an upfront bonus on variable annuities. Changes in deferred sales inducements for the periods ended December 31 
were as follows: 

 
   2017  2016 

Balance at beginning of year   $ 28,475  $ 28,370 

Capitalization    3,022   4,466 

Amortization and interest    (2,687)   (4,289) 

Adjustment for unrealized gains (losses)    232   (72) 

Balance at end of year   $ 29,042  $ 28,475 
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 
In connection with acquisitions of operating entities, the Company recognizes the excess of the purchase price over the fair 
value of net assets acquired as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized. The Company may choose to perform a qualitative 
assessment in which the Company determines if the fair value of the reporting unit is, more likely than not, greater than the 
carrying value of the reporting unit. If the fair value of the reporting unit is, more likely than not, greater than the carrying value 
of the reporting unit, then no further review or testing is required. If the fair value of the reporting entity is not, more likely than 
not, greater than the carrying value of the reporting unit, or if the Company chooses not to perform a qualitative assessment, 
the goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level.  
 
The assessment or testing of goodwill is performed at least annually and between annual evaluations if events occur or 
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. 
Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to: (1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, 
(2) unanticipated competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. When evaluating whether goodwill is 
impaired, the Company compares the fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit’s 
carrying amount, including goodwill. When the Company chooses to perform or determines that testing is required, the fair 
value of the reporting unit is estimated using a combination of the income or discounted cash flows approach and the market 
approach, which utilizes comparable companies’ data, when available. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its 
fair value, then the amount of the impairment loss must be measured. The impairment loss would be calculated by comparing 
the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill to its carrying amount. In calculating the implied fair value of reporting unit 
goodwill, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the other assets and liabilities of that unit based on their fair 
values. The excess of the fair value of a reporting unit over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied 
fair value of goodwill. An impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair 
value.  
 
The Company also evaluates the recoverability of other intangible assets with finite useful lives whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that an intangible asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such circumstances could 
include, but are not limited to: (1) a significant decrease in the fair value of an asset, (2) a significant adverse change in the 
extent or manner in which an asset is used, or (3) an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally 
expected for the acquisition of an asset. The Company measures the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows associated with it. Should the sum of the expected undiscounted future net cash flows be less 
than the carrying value of the asset being evaluated, an impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss would be 
determined as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. The fair value is measured based on 
quoted market prices, if available. If quoted market prices are not available, the estimate of fair value is based on various 
valuation techniques, including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows. The evaluation of asset impairment 
requires the Company to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset being evaluated. These 
assumptions require significant judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated amounts.  

 
Software 
 
Computer software costs incurred for internal use are capitalized and amortized over a three to five-year period. Computer 
software costs include application software, purchased software packages and significant upgrades to software and are 
included in property and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company had unamortized software costs 
of $32,220 and $44,569 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and amortized software expense of $16,004, $17,574 
and $21,868 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
Property and Equipment 

 
Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation of $132,330 and $139,872 at December 31, 2017 
and 2016, respectively. Buildings are depreciated over 40 years and equipment is generally depreciated over 5 to 10 years. 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, was $15,506, $16,886, and $11,074, 
respectively.  
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Reinsurance 
 
Insurance liabilities are reported before the effects of ceded reinsurance. Reinsurance recoverables represent amounts due 
from reinsurers for paid and unpaid benefits, expense reimbursements, prepaid premiums and policyholder liabilities. Amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the policyholder liability associated with the reinsured 
business. Reinsurance premiums ceded and recoveries on benefits and claims incurred are deducted from the respective 
income and expense accounts. 

 
Policyholder Liabilities 

 
Policy and contract account balances represent the net accumulation of funds associated with nontraditional life insurance 
products and deferred annuities. Additions to account balances include premiums, deposits, sales inducements and interest 
credited by the Company. Deductions to account balances include surrenders, withdrawals, benefit payments and charges 
assessed for the cost of insurance, policy administration and surrenders. 

 
Future policy and contract benefits are comprised of reserves for traditional life insurance, group life insurance, accident and 
health products, immediate annuities, and guarantees on certain deferred annuity contracts. The reserves were calculated 
using the net level premium method based upon assumptions regarding investment yield, mortality, morbidity and withdrawal 
rates determined at the date of issue, commensurate with the Company’s experience. Provision has been made in certain 
cases for adverse deviations from these assumptions. When estimating the expected gross margins for traditional life insurance 
products as of December 31, 2017, the Company has assumed an average rate of investment yields ranging from 2.97% to 
6.21%. 

 
Certain future policy and contract benefits are adjusted to reflect the impact of unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturity 
securities available for sale. The adjustment to future policy benefits and claims represents the increase in policy reserves that 
would have been recorded had such unrealized amounts been realized. This adjustment is recorded through other 
comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. 
 
Pending policy and contract claims primarily represent amounts estimated for claims incurred but not reported and claims that 
have been reported but not settled. Such liabilities are estimated based upon the Company's historical experience and other 
actuarial assumptions that consider current developments and anticipated trends.  
  

Other policyholder funds are comprised of dividend accumulations, premium deposit funds and supplementary contracts 
without life contingencies. 
 
Participating Business 

 
Dividends on participating policies and other discretionary payments are declared by the Board of Directors based upon 
actuarial determinations, which take into consideration current mortality, interest earnings, expense factors and federal income 
taxes. Dividends are recognized as expenses consistent with the recognition of premiums. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
the total participating business in force was $2,194,452 and $2,217,164, respectively. As a percentage of total life insurance 
in force, participating business in force represents 0.2% at December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
 
Income Taxes 

 
The Company files a life/non-life consolidated federal income tax return with Minnesota Mutual Companies, Inc., the 
Company’s ultimate parent. The Company utilizes a consolidated approach to the allocation of current taxes, whereby, the tax 
benefits resulting from any losses by the Company, which would be realized by Minnesota Mutual Companies, Inc. on a 
consolidated return, go to the benefit of the Company. Intercompany tax balances are settled annually when the tax return is 
filed with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). 
 
Inherent in the provision for federal income taxes are estimates regarding the deductibility of certain items and the realization 
of certain tax credits. In the event the ultimate deductibility of certain items or the realization of certain tax credits differs from 
estimates, the Company may be required to significantly change the provision for federal income taxes recorded on the 
consolidated financial statements. Any such change could significantly affect the amounts reported on the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income. Management has used best estimates to establish reserves based on 
current facts and circumstances regarding tax exposure items where the ultimate deductibility is open to interpretation. 
Management evaluates the appropriateness of such reserves based on any new developments specific to their fact patterns. 
Information considered includes results of completed tax examinations, Technical Advice Memorandums and other rulings 
issued by the IRS or the tax courts. 
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
Income Taxes (Continued) 

 
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement 
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income 
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under this method, the effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment 
date. Valuation allowances are established when it is determined that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will 
not be fully realized. Current income taxes are charged to operations based upon amounts estimated to be payable as a result 
of taxable operations for the current year.  
 

(3) Risks 

 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are based on estimates and assumptions that are subject to significant 
business, economic and competitive risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the Company’s control or are subject 
to change.  As such, actual results could differ from the estimates used in the consolidated financial statements and the value 
of the Company’s investments, its financial condition and its liquidity could be adversely affected. The following risks and 
uncertainties, among others, may have such an effect: 

• Economic environment and capital markets-related risks such as those related to interest rates, equity markets, credit 
spreads, real estate, and derivatives. 

• Investment-related risks such as those related to valuation, impairment, and concentration. 

• Business and operational-related risks such as those related to mortality/longevity, morbidity and claims experience, 
reinsurers and counterparties, liquidity, ratings, competition, cyber or other information security, fraud, and overall risk 
management. 

• Acquisition, disposition, or other structural change related risks. 

• Regulatory and legal risks such as those related to changes in fiscal, tax and other legislation, insurance and other 
regulation, and accounting standards. 

 
The Company actively monitors and manages risks and uncertainties through a variety of policies and procedures in an effort 
to mitigate or minimize the adverse impact of any exposures impacting the consolidated financial statements. 
 

(4) New Accounting Pronouncements 

 
Future Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements 

 
In January 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2018-02, 
Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), Reclassisfication of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Income, which provides companies with an option to reclassify stranded tax effects within accumulated 
other comprehensive income to retained earnings in each period in which the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate 
income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (or portion thereof) is recorded. ASU 2018-02 is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted.  An entity may apply the new guidance using one of the 
following two methods: (1) in the period of adoption or (2) retrospectively to each period (or periods) presented, in which the 
effect of the change in the U.S federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act is recognized.  The Company 
expects to adopt the guidance in 2018 and upon adoption expects to reclassify approximately $76,135 of unrealized deferred 
taxes, from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. 
 
In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-08, Receivables - Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20), 
Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities, shortening the amortization period for certain callable debt 
securities held at a premium and requires the premium to be amortized to the earliest call date.  However, the new guidance 
does not require an accounting change for securities held at a discount whose discount continues to be amortized to maturity.  
ASU 2017-08 is effective for fiscal years beginning on January 1, 2019 and should be applied on a modified retrospective basis 
through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of this new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. 
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(4) New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 

 
Future Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 

 
In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the presentation 
of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost, requiring an employer that offers to its employees 
defined benefit pension or other postretirement benefit plans report the service cost component in the same line item or items 
as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The other 
components of net benefit cost are required to be presented in the statement of operations separately from the service cost 
component and outside a subtotal of income from operations, if one is presented. The new guidance is effective for annual 
periods beginning on January 1, 2018. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an annual period for which financial 
statements  have not been issued or made available for issuance. The guidance should be applied retrospectively for the 
presentation of the service cost component in the statement of operations and allows a practical expedient for the estimation 
basis for applying the retrospective presentation requirements. The adoption of this new guidance will not have an impact on 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment, which removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. A goodwill impairment will now be the amount by 
which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. ASU 2017-04 is 
effective for the annual reporting period beginning January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied on a prospective basis with 
early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this new guidance on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a 
Business, which clarifies the definition of a business when evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as 
acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. ASU 2017-01 is effective for the annual reporting period beginning January 
1, 2018 and is required to be applied on a prospective basis. The adoption of this new guidance will not have an impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

  
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, which requires 
additional disclosures and modification to the statement of cash flows to provide additional information on the changes in cash, 
cash equivalents and restricted cash. ASU 2016-18 is effective for the annual reporting period beginning January 1, 2018 and 
is required to be applied on a retrospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this new guidance on its 
consolidated financial statements.  
  
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash 
Receipts and Cash Payments, which clarifies how certain transactions are to be presented on the statement of cash flows. 
ASU 2016-15 is effective for the annual reporting period beginning January 1, 2018 and is required to be applied on a 
retrospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this new guidance on its consolidated financial 
statements.  
 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments, which replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology. The revised guidance removes 
recognition thresholds and will require companies to recognize an allowance for credit losses for the difference between the 
amortized cost basis of a financial instrument and the amount of amortized cost that an entity expects to collect over the 
instrument’s contractual life along with enhanced disclosures. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the annual reporting period 
beginning on January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied on a modified retrospective basis. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of this new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. 

  
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Subtopic 842). The new guidance requires an entity to recognize 
lease assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and to disclose key information regarding leasing arrangements within the 
footnotes of the financial statements. Adoption is required utilizing a modified retrospective approach, which requires 
application of the new guidance for all periods presented. During a July 2017 FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 
meeting, it was announced that the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) staff would not object if a Public Business 
Entity (PBE) that otherwise would not meet the definition of a PBE except for the requirement to include, or the inclusion of, its 
financial statements in another entity’s filing with the SEC, uses private company adoption dates for ASU 2016-02.  The 
Company meets the criteria as an “Excluded PBE”, and as such, intends to use the private company adoption dates for ASU 
2016-02.  ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on January 1, 2020. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements. 
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(4) New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 

 
Future Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 

 
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which is intended to make targeted improvements to the reporting 
model for financial instruments. The new guidance requires equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity 
method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in net income along with certain other measurement and disclosure enhancements. ASU 2016-01 is effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on January 1, 2018. Prospective application is required with a cumulative-effect 
adjustment as of the beginning of the period of adoption. Upon adoption of the guidance the Company will reclassify 
approximately $70,000 of unrealized holding gains (losses), net of tax, from accumulated other comprehensive income to 
retained earnings related to equity securities meeting the ASU 2016-01 definition. 

 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which is a comprehensive 
new revenue recognition standard that will supersede nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance; however, it will not 
impact the accounting for insurance contracts or financial instruments. The guidance requires an entity to recognize revenue 
reflecting the transfer of a promised good or service to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for that good or service. The guidance also requires additional disclosures. An 
entity may apply the new guidance using one of the following two methods: (1) retrospectively to each prior period presented, 
or (2) retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial application. In 
July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date, 
which defered the effective date of ASU 2014-09 to the annual reporting period beginning January 1, 2018. During a July 2017 
FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) meeting, it was announced that the SEC staff would not object if a PBE that 
otherwise would not meet the definition of a PBE except for the requirement to include, or the inclusion of, its financial 
statements in another entity’s filing with the SEC, uses private company adoption dates for ASU 2014-09.  The Company 
meets the criteria as an “Excluded PBE”, and as such, intends to use the private company adoption dates for ASU 2014-09.  
ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on January 1, 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact of this new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
 (5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value 
 
The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities has been determined using available market information 
as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. Although the Company is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the fair 
value of financial assets and financial liabilities, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued since those dates. 
Therefore, estimates of fair value subsequent to the valuation dates may differ significantly from the amounts presented herein. 
Considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to develop the estimates of fair value. The use of different market 
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. 
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the Company primarily uses the 
market approach which utilizes prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or 
comparable assets or liabilities. To a lesser extent, the Company also uses the income approach which uses discounted cash 
flows to determine fair value. When applying either approach, the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and 
minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in valuing 
a financial instrument based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs reflect 
the Company’s estimates about the assumptions market participants would use in valuing financial assets and financial 
liabilities based on the best information available in the circumstances. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The Company is required to categorize its financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheets 
according to a three-level hierarchy. A level is assigned to each financial asset and financial liability based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The levels of fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

 
Level 1 – Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market. The types 
of assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 valuations generally include U.S. government securities, certain publicly traded 
corporate fixed maturity securities, money-market funds, actively-traded U.S. and international equities, investments in 
mutual funds with quoted market prices, certain separate account assets, and listed derivatives. 
 
Level 2 – Fair value is based on significant inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable in 
active markets for identical or similar assets and liabilities. The types of assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 valuations 
generally include agency securities not backed by the full faith of the U.S. government, foreign government securities, 
publicly traded corporate fixed maturity securities, structured notes, municipal fixed maturity securities, certain mortgage 
and asset-backed securities, certain separate account assets, certain equity securities not priced on an exchange, and 
certain derivatives. 

 

Level 3 – Fair value is based on at least one or more significant unobservable inputs. These inputs reflect the Company’s 
assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities. The types of assets and 
liabilities utilizing Level 3 valuations generally include certain mortgage and asset backed securities, certain privately 
placed corporate fixed maturity securities, certain separate account assets and certain derivatives, including embedded 
derivatives associated with living benefit guarantees and indexed features on certain life and annuity contracts. 

 

The Company uses prices and inputs that are current as of the measurement date. In periods of market disruption, the ability 
to observe prices and inputs may be reduced, which could cause an asset or liability to be reclassified to a lower level.  
 
Inputs used to measure fair value of an asset or liability may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In these 
situations, the Company will determine the level in which the fair value falls based upon the lowest level input that is significant 
to the determination of the fair value. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The following tables summarize the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis: 
 

 December 31, 2017 

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:        

 U.S. government securities $ 495,440  $ -  $ -  $ 495,440 

 Agencies not backed by the full faith and         

 credit of the U.S. government  -   868,236   -   868,236 

 Foreign government securities  -   36,493   -   36,493 

 Corporate securities  -   9,131,290   1,305,957   10,437,247 

 Asset-backed securities  -   550,891   52,987   603,878 

 Commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS)  -   1,593,806   -   1,593,806 

 Residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS)  -   2,073,400   5   2,073,405 

 Total fixed maturity securities, available-        

 for-sale  495,440   14,254,116   1,358,949   16,108,505 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  468,156   76,544   67   544,767 

Derivative instruments:          

 TBA derivative instruments  -   31,714   -   31,714 

 Other derivative instruments  13   469,267   -   469,280 

 Total derivative instruments  13   500,981   -   500,994 

   Total investments  963,609   14,831,641   1,359,016   17,154,266 

Cash equivalents  288,998   2,160   -   291,158 

Separate account assets  4,904,223   20,018,589   886   24,923,698 

  Total financial assets $ 6,156,830  $ 34,852,390  $ 1,359,902  $ 42,369,122 

        

Policy and contract account balances (1) $ -  $ -  $ 402,466  $ 402,466 

Future policy and contract benefits (1)  -   -   17,498   17,498 

Derivative instruments (2)  13   111,333   -   111,346 

  Total financial liabilities $ 13  $ 111,333  $ 419,964  $ 531,310 

 
(1) Policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract benefits balances reported in this table relate to embedded 

derivatives associated with living benefit guarantees and indexed features on certain annuity and life insurance products. The Company's 
guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefits, guaranteed payout annuity floor, and fixed indexed annuity and fixed indexed universal life 
products are considered embedded derivatives, resulting in the embedded derivatives being separated from the host contract and 
recognized at fair value.  

 
(2) Included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The following tables summarize the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis (Continued): 

 

 December 31, 2016 

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:        

 U.S. government securities $ 293,539  $ -  $ -  $ 293,539 

 Agencies not backed by the full faith and         

 credit of the U.S. government  -   820,335   -   820,335 

 Foreign government securities  -   37,064   -   37,064 

 Corporate securities  1,607   7,915,599   1,041,343   8,958,549 

 Asset-backed securities  -   434,006   38,833   472,839 

 CMBS  -   1,398,895   -   1,398,895 

 RMBS  -   1,778,276   23   1,778,299 

 Total fixed maturity securities, available-        

 for-sale  295,146   12,384,175   1,080,199   13,759,520 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  474,974   77,427   87   552,488 

Derivative instruments:          

 TBA derivative instruments  -   18,847   -   18,847 

 Other derivative instruments  15   346,281   -   346,296 

 Total derivative instruments  15   365,128   -   365,143 

   Total investments  770,135   12,826,730   1,080,286   14,677,151 

Cash equivalents  231,959   12,145   -   244,104 

Separate account assets  3,932,516   17,415,512   1,809   21,349,837 

  Total financial assets $ 4,934,610  $ 30,254,387  $ 1,082,095  $ 36,271,092 

        

Policy and contract account balances (1) $ -  $ -  $ 262,102  $ 262,102 

Future policy and contract benefits (1)  -   -   34,283   34,283 

Derivative instruments (2)  741   70,743   -   71,484 

  Total financial liabilities $ 741  $ 70,743  $ 296,385  $ 367,869 

 
(1) Policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract benefits balances reported in this table relate to embedded 

derivatives associated with living benefit guarantees and indexed features on certain annuity and life insurance products. The Company's 
guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefits, guaranteed payout annuity floor, and fixed index annuity and fixed indexed universal life 
products are considered embedded derivatives, resulting in the embedded derivatives being separated from the host contract and 
recognized at fair value.  

 
(2) Included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial assets and liabilities are summarized as follows: 
 
Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale 
 
When available, fair values of fixed maturity are based on quoted market prices of identical assets in active markets and are 
reflected in Level 1. 
 
When quoted prices are not available, the Company’s process is to obtain prices from third party pricing services, when 
available. The Company generally receives prices from pricing services and maintains a vendor hierarchy by asset type based 
on historical pricing experience and vendor expertise. The Company’s primary pricing service has policies and processes to 
ensure that it is using objectively verifiable observable market data. The pricing service regularly reviews the evaluation inputs 
for securities covered and publishes and updates a summary of inputs used in its valuations by major security type. The market 
inputs utilized in the pricing evaluation depend on asset class and market conditions but typically include: benchmark yields, 
reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data, and industry and 
economic events. If the pricing service determines it does not have sufficient objectively verifiable information about a security’s 
valuation, it discontinues providing a valuation for the security. In this instance, the Company would be required to produce an 
estimate of fair value. 
 
Prices are reviewed by affiliated asset managers and management to validate reasonability. Fixed maturity securities with 
validated prices from pricing services are generally reflected in Level 2. If the pricing information received from third party 
pricing services is not reflective of market activity or other inputs observable in the market, the Company may challenge the 
price through a formal process with the pricing service. If the pricing service updates the price to be more consistent in 
comparison to the presented market observations, the security remains within Level 2. 
 
For fixed maturity securities where quoted market prices are not available or the Company concludes the pricing information 
received from third party pricing services is not reflective of market activity - generally private placement securities or securities 
that do not trade regularly – a matrix pricing, discounted cash flow or other model is used. The pricing models are developed 
by obtaining spreads versus the U.S. Treasury yield for corporate securities with varying weighted average lives and bond 
ratings. The weighted average life and bond rating of a particular fixed maturity security to be priced are important inputs into 
the model and are used to determine a corresponding spread that is added to the U.S. Treasury yield to create an estimated 
market yield for that security. The estimated market yield, liquidity premium, any adjustments for known credit risk, and other 
relevant factors are then used to estimate the fair value of the particular fixed maturity security. Certain other valuations are 
based on independent non-binding broker quotes. Fixed maturity securities valued using pricing models with unobservable 
inputs or broker quotes are reflected in Level 3. 
 
Equity securities, available-for-sale 
 
The Company’s equity securities consist primarily of investments in common stock of publicly traded companies. The fair 
values of equity securities are based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and are classified within 
Level 1. The Company carries certain equity securities that are not priced on an exchange classified within Level 2. The 
Company receives these prices from third party pricing services using observable inputs for identical or similar assets in active 
markets. The Company carries a small amount of non-exchange traded equity securities classified within Level 3. The fair 
value of these securities is based on at least one or more significant unobservable input. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
Derivative instruments 
 
Derivative instrument fair values are based on quoted market prices when available. If a quoted market price is not available, 
fair value is estimated using current market assumptions and modeling techniques, which are then compared with quotes from 
counterparties.  
 
The majority of the Company’s derivative positions are traded in the OTC derivative market and are classified as Level 2. The 
fair values of most OTC derivatives are determined using discounted cash flow or third party pricing models. The significant 
inputs to the pricing models are observable in the market or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable 
market data. Significant inputs that are observable generally include: interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, interest 
rate curves, credit curves and volatility. However, certain OTC derivatives may rely on inputs that are significant to the 
estimated fair value that are not observable in the market or cannot be derived principally from or corroborated by observable 
market data. Significant inputs that are unobservable generally include: independent broker quotes and inputs that are outside 
the observable portion of the interest rate curve, credit curve, volatility or other relevant market measure. These unobservable 
inputs may involve significant management judgment or estimation. In general, OTC derivatives are compared to an outside 
broker quote when available and are reviewed in detail through the Company’s valuation oversight group. OTC derivatives 
valued using significant unobservable inputs would be classified as Level 3. 
 
The credit risk of both the counterparty and the Company are considered in determining the estimated fair value for all OTC 
derivatives after taking into account the effects of netting agreements and collateral arrangements.  
 

Cash equivalents 
 
Cash equivalents include money market instruments and highly rated commercial paper. Money market instruments are 
generally valued using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and are reflected in Level 1.  
 
Separate account assets 

 
Separate account assets are reported as a summarized total and are carried at estimated fair value based on the underlying 
assets in which the separate accounts are invested. Valuations for fixed maturity securities, equity securities and cash 
equivalents are determined consistent with similar instruments as previously described. Valuations for certain mutual funds 
and pooled separate accounts are classified as Level 2 as the values are based upon quoted prices or reported net asset 
values provided by the fund managers with little readily determinable public pricing information.  
 
Policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract account benefits 
 
Policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract account benefits include liabilities for living benefit 
guarantees and indexed features on certain annuity contracts and life insurance policies accounted for as embedded 
derivatives. These guarantees take the form of guaranteed withdrawal and income benefits on variable annuities, a guaranteed 
payout floor on a variable payout annuity, and indexed interest credits on both fixed annuity and fixed universal life products.  
 
The fair value for embedded derivatives related to fixed indexed annuity and indexed universal life products is based on the 
present value of future index returns to the policyholder using actuarial and present value assumptions including expectations 
concerning policyholder behavior.  The calculation is based on in-force business and uses standard capital market techniques, 
such as the Black-Scholes, with certain unobservable inputs such as mortality, lapse, and volatility. 
 
The fair value for living benefit guarantee embedded derivatives is estimated using the present value of future benefits less the 
present value of future fees over the expected lives of the contracts using various capital market and actuarial assumptions. 
The cash flows are projected under multiple capital market scenarios using observable risk free rates. The valuation of these 
embedded derivatives includes an adjustment for the Company's own credit risk and other non-capital market inputs. The 
Company's own credit adjustment is determined taking into consideration publicly available information relating to peer 
companies’ debt ratings and the Company's own claims paying ability.  
 
 
 

  



MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
(in thousands) 

 

(Continued) 
25 

(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
Policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract account benefits (Continued) 
 
Other significant inputs to the valuation models for the embedded derivatives associated with the optional living benefit features 
of the Company’s variable annuity products include capital market assumptions, such as interest rate and implied volatility 
assumptions, as well as various policyholder behavior assumptions that are actuarially determined, including lapse rates, 
benefit utilization rates, mortality rates and withdrawal rates. 
 
These assumptions are reviewed at least annually, and updated based upon historical experience. Since many of the 
assumptions utilized in the valuation of embedded derivatives are unobservable and are considered to be significant inputs to 
the valuations, the embedded derivatives have been reflected within Level 3. 
 
The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of Level 3 financial assets held at fair value on a recurring 
basis during the year ended December 31, 2017: 
 

   

Total realized and 
unrealized gains (losses) 

included in:   

  

 

  

 

 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year  

Net 
income 

(1)  

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income 
(loss)  

 
Transfers 

in to 
Level 3 

(2) 

 

Transfers 
out of 

Level 3 
(2)  

Purchases, 
sales and 

settlements, 
net (3) 

 

Balance at 
end of 
year 

Fixed maturity securities,              

 available-for sale:              

 Corporate securities $ 1,041,343  $ (2,482)  $ 13,140  $ -  $ -  $ 253,956  $ 1,305,957 

 Asset-backed securities  38,833   (321)   (216)   -   -   14,691   52,987 

 RMBS  23   -   14   -   (4)   (28)   5 

 Total fixed maturity               

  securities, available-              

  for-sale  1,080,199  $ (2,803)   12,938   -   (4)   268,619   1,358,949 

Equity securities,               

 available-for-sale  87   -   (20)   -   -   -   67 

Separate account assets  1,809   -   (107)   -   (1,590)   774   886 

  Total financial assets $ 1,082,095  $ (2,803)  $ 12,811  $ -  $ (1,594)  $ 269,393  $ 1,359,902 

 
(1) The amounts included in this column are reported in net realized investment gains (losses) on the consolidated statements of operations 

and comprehensive income. 
 

(2) Transfers in to/out of Level 3 are primarily due to the availability of observable market prices. 
 
(3) The following table provides the bifurcation of the net purchases, sales and settlements. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The following table provides the bifurcation of the net purchases, sales and settlements during the year ended December 31, 
2017: 
 

 Purchases  Sales  Settlements  

Purchases, 
sales and 

settlements, 
net 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:        

 Corporate securities $ 453,900  $ (15,315)  $ (184,629)  $ 253,956 

 Asset-backed securities  22,000   -   (7,309)   14,691 

 RMBS  -   -   (28)   (28) 

 Total fixed maturity securities, available-        

  for-sale  475,900   (15,315)   (191,966)   268,619 

Separate account assets  1,178   (404)   -   774 

  Total financial assets $ 477,078  $ (15,719)  $ (191,966)  $ 269,393 

 

The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of Level 3 financial assets held at fair value on a recurring 
basis during the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 

   

Total realized and 
unrealized gains (losses) 

included in:   

  

 

  

 

 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year  

Net 
income 

(1)  

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income 
(loss)  

 
Transfers 

in to 
Level 3 

(2) 

 

Transfers 
out of 

Level 3 
(2)  

Purchases, 
sales and 

settlements, 
net (3) 

 

Balance at 
end of 
year 

Fixed maturity securities,              

 available-for sale:              

 Corporate securities $ 904,066  $ (216)  $ (2,816)  $ -  $ -  $ 140,309  $ 1,041,343 

 Asset-backed securities  45,488   -   (221)   -   (5,000)   (1,434)   38,833 

 CMBS  22,734   -   -   -   (22,734)   -   - 

 RMBS  64   12   30   -   -   (83)   23 

 Total fixed maturity               

  securities, available-              

  for-sale  972,352  $ (204)   (3,007)   -   (27,734)   138,792   1,080,199 

Equity securities,               

 available-for-sale  113   -   (26)   -   -   -   87 

Separate account assets  1,613   -   95   92   (87)   96   1,809 

  Total financial assets $ 974,078  $ (204)  $ (2,938)  $ 92  $ (27,821)  $ 138,888  $ 1,082,095 

 
(1) The amounts included in this column are reported in net realized investment gains (losses) on the consolidated statements of operations 

and comprehensive income. 
 

(2) Transfers in to/out of Level 3 are primarily due to the availability of observable market prices. 
 
(3) The following table provides the bifurcation of the net purchases, sales and settlements. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The following table provides the bifurcation of the net purchases, sales and settlements during the year ended December 31, 
2016: 

 

 Purchases  Sales  Settlements  

Purchases, 
sales and 

settlements, 
net 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:        

 Corporate securities $ 274,260  $ (6,784)  $ (127,167)  $ 140,309 

 Asset-backed securities  579   -   (2,013)   (1,434) 

 RMBS  -   -   (83)   (83) 

 Total fixed maturity securities, available-        

  for-sale  274,839   (6,784)   (129,263)   138,792 

Separate account assets  192   (90)   (6)   96 

  Total financial assets $ 275,031  $ (6,874)  $ (129,269)  $ 138,888 

 
Transfers of securities among the levels occur at the beginning of the reporting period.  
 
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
 
There were no changes in unrealized gains (losses) included in net income related to Level 3 assets held as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016. 

 

The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of Level 3 financial liabilities held at fair value on a recurring 
basis during the year ended December 31, 2017: 
 

   
Total realized and unrealized 

(gains) losses included in:  
   

  

 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year  
Net income 

(1)  

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income 
(loss)  Issuances 

 

Settlements  
Balance at 
end of year 

Policy and contract             

 account balances $ 262,102  $ 319,262  $ -  $ 218,732  $ (397,630)  $ 402,466 

Future policy and contract            

 benefits  34,283   (17,795)   -   -   1,010   17,498 

    Total financial liabilities $ 296,385  $ 301,467  $ -  $ 218,732  $ (396,620)  $ 419,964 

 
(1) The amounts in this column related to future policy and contract benefits are reported as losses within net realized investment gains 

(losses) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income and the amounts related to the policy and contract 
account balances are reported as losses within policyholder benefits on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income. 

 

There were no transfers in to or out of Level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2017. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Fair Value (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of Level 3 financial liabilities held at fair value on a recurring 
basis during the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 

   

Total realized and 
unrealized (gains) losses 

included in:   

    

  

 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year  

Net 
income 

(1)  

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income 
(loss)  

Transfers 
in to 

Level 3 

 

Transfers 
out of 

Level 3 

 

Settlements  

Balance 
at end of 

year 

Policy and contract               

 account balances $ 102,696  $ 159,406  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 262,102 

Future policy and contract              

 benefits  54,512   (20,182)   -   -   -   (47)   34,283 

 Total financial liabilities $ 157,208  $ 139,224  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ (47)  $ 296,385 

 
(1) The amounts in this column related to future policy and contract benefits are reported as losses within net realized investment gains 

(losses) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income and the amounts related to the policy and contract 
account balances are reported as losses within policyholder benefits on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Quantitative Information Regarding Level 3 Assets and Liabilities 
 
The following table provides a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements developed 
by the Company or reasonably available to the Company of Level 3 assets and liabilities at December 31, 2017: 
 

Level 3 instrument  Fair value  Valuation technique  Unobservable input  
Range  

(Weighted average) 

Fixed maturity securities,         

 available-for-sale:         

         

      Yield/spread to  65 bps – 189 bps 

 Corporate securities  $ 1,305,957  Discounted cash flow  U.S. Treasuries (1)  (117 bps) 

         

      Yield/spread to   68 bps – 1,309 bps 

 Asset-backed securities   52,987  Discounted cash flow  U.S. Treasuries (1)  (233 bps) 

         

Liabilities:         

         

 Policy and contract    Discounted cash flow/  Mortality rates (2)   2012 IAM table 

  account balances  $ 402,466  Option pricing techniques  Lapse rates (3)   0% to  16% 

      Market volatility (6)   0% to  30% 

         

         

 Future policy and contract    Discounted cash flow/  Mortality rates (2)  2012 IAM table 

  benefits   17,498  Option pricing techniques  Lapse rates (3)   0% to  18% 

      Utilization rates (4)   0% to 100% 

      Withdrawal rates (5)   0% to  7% 

      Market volatility (6)   0% to  20% 

      Nonperformance   

       risk spread (7)   0.2% 

 
(1) The yield/spread to U.S. Treasuries input represents an estimated market participant composite adjustment attributable to liquidity 

premiums, expected durations, structures and credit quality that would be applied to the market observable information of an investment. 
 
(2) The mortality rate input represents the estimate probability of when an individual belonging to a particular group categorized according to 

age or some other factor such as occupation, will die. 

  
(3) The lapse rate input represents the estimated probability of a contract surrendering during a year, and thereby forgoing any future benefits. 

The range represents the lapse rate during the surrender charge period for indexed annuity contracts. 

 
(4) The utilization rate input represents the estimated percentage of contract holders that utilize the guaranteed withdrawal feature. 

 
(5) The withdrawal rate input represents the estimated magnitude of annual contract holder withdrawals relative to the contracts’ benefit base. 

 
(6) The market volatility input represents overall volatilities assumed for underlying equity indexed and variable annuity funds, which include 

a mixture of equity and fixed income assets. 

 
(7) The nonperformance risk spread input represents the estimated additional own credit spread that market participants would apply to the 

market observable discount rate when pricing a contract. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Quantitative Information Regarding Level 3 Assets and Liabilities (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a summary of the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements developed 
by the Company or reasonably available to the Company of Level 3 assets and liabilities at December 31, 2016: 
 

Level 3 instrument  Fair value  Valuation technique  Unobservable input  
Range  

(Weighted average) 

Fixed maturity securities,         

 available-for-sale:         

         

      Yield/spread to  72 bps – 206 bps 

 Corporate securities  $ 1,041,343  Discounted cash flow  U.S. Treasuries (1)  (135 bps) 

         

      Yield/spread to   87 bps – 1,207 bps 

 Asset-backed securities   38,833  Discounted cash flow  U.S. Treasuries (1)  (193 bps) 

         

Liabilities:         

         

 Policy and contract    Discounted cash flow/  Mortality rates (2)   Annuity 2000 table 

  account balances  $ 262,102  Option pricing techniques  Lapse rates (3)   0% to  16% 

      Market volatility (6)   0% to  30% 

         

         

 Future policy and contract    Discounted cash flow/  Mortality rates (2)  Annuity 2000 table 

  benefits   34,283  Option pricing techniques  Lapse rates (3)   0% to  18% 

      Utilization rates (4)   0% to 100% 

      Withdrawal rates (5)   0% to  7% 

      Market volatility (6)   0% to  20% 

      Nonperformance   

       risk spread (7)   0.2% 

 
(1) The yield/spread to U.S. Treasuries input represents an estimated market participant composite adjustment attributable to liquidity 

premiums, expected durations, structures and credit quality that would be applied to the market observable information of an investment. 
 
(2) The mortality rate input represents the estimate probability of when an individual belonging to a particular group categorized according to 

age or some other factor such as occupation, will die. 

  
(3) The lapse rate input represents the estimated probability of a contract surrendering during a year, and thereby forgoing any future benefits. 

The range represents the lapse rate during the surrender charge period for indexed annuity contracts. 

 
(4) The utilization rate input represents the estimated percentage of contract holders that utilize the guaranteed withdrawal feature. 

 
(5) The withdrawal rate input represents the estimated magnitude of annual contract holder withdrawals relative to the contracts’ benefit base. 

 
(6) The market volatility input represents overall volatilities assumed for underlying equity indexed and variable annuity funds, which include 

a mixture of equity and fixed income assets. 

 
(7) The nonperformance risk spread input represents the estimated additional own credit spread that market participants would apply to the 

market observable discount rate when pricing a contract. 
 

Level 3 measurements not included in the tables above are obtained from non-binding broker quotes where observable inputs 
are not reasonably available to the Company. 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurements to Changes in Unobservable Inputs 
 
The following is a general description of sensitivities of significant unobservable inputs and their impact on the fair value 
measurement for the assets and liabilities previously described: 
 
Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale 
 
For any increase (decrease) in the yield/spread to U.S. Treasuries, the fair value of the assets will decrease (increase). 
 
Policy and contract account balances and future policy and contract benefits 
 
For any increase (decrease) in mortality rate, lapse rate and nonperformance risk spread inputs, the fair value of the liabilities 
will decrease (increase). For any increase (decrease) in the utilization, withdrawal and market volatility rates, the fair value of 
the liabilities will increase (decrease). 
 
For each category discussed above, the unobservable inputs are not inter-related; therefore, a directional change in one input 
will not affect the other inputs. 
 
Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Company did not have any financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2017 and 
2016. 
 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Other Than Fair Value 
 
The Company uses various methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that 
are not carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets.  
 
The table below presents the carrying amount and fair value by fair value hierarchy level of certain financial instruments that 
are not reported at fair value. However, in some cases, as described below, the carrying amount equals or approximates fair 
value. 

  

 December 31, 2017 

 Carrying   

 value  Fair value 

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

          

Assets:          

 Mortgage loans, net $ 3,042,230  $ -  $ -  $ 3,045,821  $ 3,045,821 

 Policy loans  474,133   -   -   572,334   572,334 

          

Liabilities:          

 Deferred annuities $ 2,325,831  $ -  $ -  $ 2,328,321  $ 2,328,321 

 Other fund deposits  2,197,565   -   -   2,183,873   2,183,873 

 Supplementary contracts          

  without life contingencies  125,920   -   -   125,920   125,920 

 Annuity certain contracts  95,803   -   -   99,822   99,822 

 Short-term debt  20,000   -   -   20,000   20,000 

 Long-term debt  468,000   -   -   470,880   470,880 

 Separate account liabilities  16,731,642   4,904,223   11,826,533   886   16,731,642 
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(5) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Reported at Other Than Fair Value 
 
The table below presents the carrying amount and fair value by fair value hierarchy level of certain financial instruments that 
are not reported at fair value. However, in some cases, as described below, the carrying amount equals or approximates fair 
value (Continued). 

  

 December 31, 2016 

 Carrying   

 value  Fair value 

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

          

Assets:          

 Mortgage loans, net $ 2,544,437  $ -  $ -  $ 2,527,742  $ 2,527,742 

 Policy loans  426,971   -   -   515,602   515,602 

          

Liabilities:          

 Deferred annuities $ 2,158,937  $ -  $ -  $ 2,259,518  $ 2,259,518 

 Other fund deposits  2,200,721   -   -   2,186,511   2,186,511 

 Supplementary contracts          

  without life contingencies  117,206   -   -   117,206   117,206 

 Annuity certain contracts  85,785   -   -   88,408   88,408 

 Short-term debt  50,000   -   -   50,000   50,000 

 Long-term debt  468,000   -   -   470,628   470,628 

 Separate account liabilities  14,039,115   3,932,516   10,104,790   1,809   14,039,115 

 
Fair values of mortgage loans are based upon matrix pricing and discounted cash flows. Fair values of policy loans are 
estimated by discounting expected cash flows. The expected cash flows reflect an estimate for the timing of repayment of the 
loans and weighted average loan interest rates. 
 
The fair values of deferred annuities and other fund deposits, which have guaranteed interest rates and surrender charges, 
are estimated to be the amount payable on demand as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 as those investment contracts have 
no defined maturity, are similar to a deposit liability and are based on the current interest rate environment relative to the 
guaranteed interest rates. The amount payable on demand equates to the account balance less applicable surrender charges. 
Contracts without guaranteed interest rates and surrender charges have fair values equal to their accumulation values plus 
applicable market value adjustments.  
  

The fair values of supplementary contracts without life contingencies and annuity certain contracts are calculated using 
discounted cash flows, based on interest rates currently offered for similar products with maturities consistent with those 
remaining for the contracts being valued.  
 
The carrying amount of short-term debt approximates the fair value. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based 
primarily on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for debt and financial instruments with similar terms and 
remaining maturities. 
 
Certain separate account liabilities represent balances due to policyholders under contracts that are classified as investment 
contracts. Since these separate account liabilities are fully funded by the cash flows from the separate account assets which 
are recognized at estimated fair value, the value of those assets approximates the carrying and fair value of the related separate 
account liabilities. The valuation techniques and inputs for separate account liabilities are similar to those described for 
separate account assets. 
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(6) Investments 
 

Fixed Maturity and Equity Securities 
 
The Company invests in private placement fixed maturity securities to enhance the overall value of its portfolio, increase 
diversification and obtain higher yields than are possible with comparable publicly traded securities. Generally, private 
placement fixed maturity securities provide broader access to management information, strengthened negotiated protective 
covenants, call protection features and, frequently, improved seniority of collateral protection. Private placement securities 
generally are only tradable subject to restrictions by federal and state securities laws and are, therefore, less liquid than publicly 
traded fixed maturity securities. 
 
The Company holds CMBS that may be originated by single or multiple issuers, which are collateralized by mortgage loans 
secured by income producing commercial properties such as office buildings, multi-family dwellings, industrial, retail, hotels 
and other property types. 

 

The Company’s RMBS portfolio consists of pass-through securities, which are pools of mortgage loans collateralized by single-
family residences and primarily issued by government sponsored entities (e.g., GNMA, FNMA and FHLMC), and structured 
pass-through securities, such as collateralized mortgage obligations, that may have specific prepayment and maturity profiles 
and may be issued by either government sponsored entities or “private label” issuers. The Company’s RMBS portfolio primarily 
contains loans made to borrowers with strong credit histories. The Company’s portfolio consisted of $2,020,098 and $1,727,155 
agency backed RMBS, and $53,307 and $51,144 non-agency backed RMBS as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
The Company’s RMBS portfolio also includes Alt-A mortgage loans to customers who have good credit ratings but have limited 
documentation for their source of income or some other standards used to underwrite the mortgage loan, and subprime 
residential loans to customers with weak credit profiles, including mortgages originated using relaxed mortgage-underwriting 
standards. The fair value of the Company’s subprime securities as of December 31, 2017 was $505 with unrealized losses 
totaling $28. The fair value of the Company’s subprime securities as of December 31, 2016 was $3,273 with unrealized losses 
totaling $48. 
  

The Company’s asset-backed securities investment portfolio consists of securities collateralized by the cash flows of 
receivables relating to credit cards, automobiles, manufactured housing and other asset class loans.  

  
The equity securities portfolio is managed with the objective of capturing long-term capital gains with a moderate level of 
current income. The carrying value of the Company’s equity security portfolio totaled $544,767 and $552,488 as of December 
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

  

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, OTTI recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) 
and fair value of fixed maturity and equity securities by type of investment were as follows: 
 

 

 
Amortized 

cost  

Gross 
unrealized 

gains  

Gross 
unrealized 

losses  
OTTI in 

AOCL (1)  Fair value 

 

December 31, 2017 

U.S. government securities $ 480,172  $ 15,432  $ 532  $ (368)  $ 495,440 

Agencies not backed by the full faith and  
 credit of the U.S. government  834,859   34,335   958   -   868,236 

Foreign government securities  33,421   3,073   1   -   36,493 

Corporate securities  9,936,251   516,982   16,632   (646)   10,437,247 

Asset-backed securities   589,719   15,446   1,386   (99)   603,878 

CMBS  1,572,057   25,509   4,574   (814)   1,593,806 

RMBS  1,996,512   76,526   2,076   (2,443)   2,073,405 

 Total fixed maturity securities,          

  available-for-sale  15,442,991   687,303   26,159   (4,370)   16,108,505 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  456,162   92,991   4,386   -   544,767 

  Total $ 15,899,153  $ 780,294  $ 30,545  $ (4,370)  $ 16,653,272 

 
(1) Amounts include net unrealized (gains) losses on OTTI fixed maturity securities subsequent to the impairment measurement date. 
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(6) Investments (Continued) 
 

Fixed Maturity and Equity Securities (Continued) 
 
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, OTTI recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) 
and fair value of fixed maturity and equity securities by type of investment were as follows: 
 

 

 
Amortized 

cost  

Gross 
unrealized 

gains  

Gross 
unrealized 

losses  
OTTI in 

AOCL (1)  Fair value 

 

December 31, 2016 

U.S. government securities $ 275,240  $ 18,900  $ 762  $ (161)  $ 293,539 

Agencies not backed by the full faith and  
 credit of the U.S. government  813,892   15,827   9,384   -   820,335 

Foreign government securities  33,244   3,820   -   -   37,064 

Corporate securities  8,732,000   318,757   94,430   (2,222)   8,958,549 

Asset-backed securities   464,388   13,940   5,616   (127)   472,839 

CMBS  1,382,327   27,739   13,657   (2,486)   1,398,895 

RMBS  1,694,754   84,354   2,453   (1,644)   1,778,299 

 Total fixed maturity securities,          

  available-for-sale  13,395,845   483,337   126,302   (6,640)   13,759,520 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  489,747   69,387   6,646   -   552,488 

  Total $ 13,885,592  $ 552,724  $ 132,948  $ (6,640)  $ 14,312,008 

 
(1) Amounts include net unrealized (gains) losses on OTTI fixed maturity securities subsequent to the impairment measurement date. 

 

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2017, by contractual maturity, are shown below. 
Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations 
with or without call or prepayment penalties. 
 

   Available-for-sale 

     Amortized  Fair 

     cost  value 

Due in one year or less     $ 304,425  $ 308,279 

Due after one year through five years      2,340,398   2,459,888 

Due after five years through ten years      3,585,640   3,695,615 

Due after ten years      5,054,240   5,373,634 

      11,284,703   11,837,416 

Asset-backed and mortgage-backed  
 securities      4,158,288   4,271,089 

 Total     $ 15,442,991  $ 16,108,505 
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(6) Investments (Continued) 
 

Fixed Maturity and Equity Securities (Continued) 
 
The Company had certain investments with a reported fair value lower than the cost of the investments as follows:  

 

 December 31, 2017 

 Less than 12 months 

 Fair value  
Amortized 

cost  

Unrealized 
losses and 

OTTI in 
AOCL  Security count 

U.S. government securities $ 40,034  $ 40,175  $ 141   25 

Agencies not backed by the full faith and 
 credit of the U.S. government  74,124   74,705   581   26 

Foreign government securities  217   218   1   1 

Corporate securities  724,615   731,655   7,040   192 

Asset-backed securities  167,513   168,326   813   62 

CMBS  424,372   426,822   2,450   32 

RMBS  280,077   281,317   1,240   49 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  44,274   47,398   3,124   48 

 

 December 31, 2017 

 12 months or greater 

 Fair value  
Amortized 

cost  

Unrealized 
losses and 

OTTI in 
AOCL  Security count 

U.S. government securities $ 17,171  $ 17,562  $ 391   11 
Agencies not backed by the full faith and 
 credit of the U.S. government  20,049   20,426   377   12 

Corporate securities  413,112   422,727   9,615   70 

Asset-backed securities  42,921   43,494   573   18 

CMBS  76,703   78,829   2,126   21 

RMBS  43,349   44,305   956   45 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  6,141   7,403   1,262   10 

 

 December 31, 2016 

 Less than 12 months 

 Fair value  
Amortized 

cost  

Unrealized 
losses and 

OTTI in 
AOCL  Security count 

U.S. government securities $ 36,201  $ 36,939  $ 738   29 

Agencies not backed by the full faith and 
 credit of the U.S. government  301,927   311,311   9,384   57 

Corporate securities  2,130,839   2,200,276   69,437   373 

Asset-backed securities  148,534   153,356   4,822   45 

CMBS  507,346   520,159   12,813   52 

RMBS  189,365   191,613   2,248   44 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  86,721   90,679   3,958   68 
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(6) Investments (Continued) 

 
Fixed Maturity and Equity Securities (Continued) 

 
The Company had certain investments with a reported fair value lower than the cost of the investments as follows (Continued):  

 

 December 31, 2016 

 12 months or greater 

 Fair value  
Amortized 

cost  

Unrealized 
losses and 

OTTI in 
AOCL  Security count 

U.S. government securities $ 830  $ 854  $ 24   1 

Corporate securities  300,129   325,122   24,993   69 

Asset-backed securities  15,833   16,627   794   6 

CMBS  19,830   20,695   865   8 

RMBS  17,289   17,930   641   24 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  26,683   29,371   2,688   25 
 

For fixed maturity securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company expects to collect all principal and interest payments. 
In determining whether an impairment is other than temporary, the Company evaluates its intent and need to sell a security 
prior to its anticipated recovery in fair value. The Company performs ongoing analysis of liquidity needs, which includes cash 
flow testing. Cash flow testing includes duration matching of the investment portfolio and policyholder liabilities. As of December 
31, 2017, the Company does not intend to sell and does not believe that it will be required to sell investments with an unrealized 
loss prior to recovery.  
 
The following paragraphs summarize the Company’s evaluation of investment categories with unrealized losses as of 
December 31, 2017. 
 
U.S. government securities are temporarily impaired due to current interest rates and not credit-related reasons. The Company 
expects to collect all principal and interest on these securities. 
 
Agencies not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government securities are temporarily impaired due to interest rates 
and not credit-related reasons. Although not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government, these securities 
generally trade as if they are.  
 
Foreign government securities are temporarily impaired due to current interest rates and not credit-related reasons. The 
Company expects to collect all principal and interest on these securities. 
 
Corporate security valuations are impacted by both interest rates and credit industry specific issues. The Company recognizes 
an OTTI due to credit issues if the Company believes the security will not recover in a reasonable period of time. Unrealized 
losses are primarily due to the interest rate environment and credit spreads.  
 
Asset-backed securities, CMBS and RMBS are impacted by both interest rates and the value of the underlying collateral. The 
Company utilizes discounted cash flow models using outside assumptions to determine if an OTTI is warranted.  
 
The Company’s CMBS portfolio had initial ratings of AA or higher and are diversified by property type and geographic location. 
The Company’s CMBS portfolio is primarily super senior and senior securities as opposed to mezzanine or below. Commercial 
real estate fundamentals have impacted most of the asset class and the Company has recognized OTTI when warranted. At 
December 31, 2017, the Company had CMBS securities that had been in an unrealized loss position for twelve months or 
longer and 100% of these securities were investment grade.  
 
The Company’s RMBS portfolio primarily consists of residential mortgages to prime borrowers. Fluctuations in the U.S. housing 
market continues to impact the valuations across the entire asset class. As of December 31, 2017, 97.4% of the RMBS portfolio 
was invested in agency pass-through securities. At December 31, 2017, the Company had RMBS securities that were in an 
unrealized loss position for twelve months or longer and 99.9% of these securities were investment grade (BBB or better). 
Credit support for the RMBS holdings remains high.  
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(6) Investments (Continued) 

 
Fixed Maturity and Equity Securities (Continued) 
 
Equity securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2017 primarily represent highly diversified publicly traded equity 
securities that have positive outlooks for near-term future recovery.  

 
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, fixed maturity securities and cash equivalents with a carrying value of $23,579 and $21,694, 
respectively, were on deposit with various regulatory authorities as required by law. 

 
Mortgage Loans 
 
The Company underwrites commercial mortgages on general purpose income producing properties and the Company has 
defined its portfolio segment as the commercial mortgage loan portfolio in total with the class segments defined as office 
buildings, retail facilities, apartment, industrial and other properties. Geographic and property type diversification is also 
considered in analyzing investment opportunities, as well as property valuation and cash flow. The mortgage loan portfolio 
totaled $3,042,230 and $2,544,437 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
The Company’s commercial mortgage loan investments are owned by Minnesota Life Insurance Company and Securian Life 
Insurance Company and are managed and serviced directly by an affiliate, Advantus Capital Management, Inc. (Advantus).  
 
The Company participates in a program to sell a percentage of ownership of certain newly originated mortgage loans to third 
parties in order to diversify and mitigate risk. These transactions are accounted for as sales and the portion of each asset sold 
is legally isolated from the Company with no exposure of loss. Advantus services the assets for the third party. Certain portions 
of mortgage loans totaling $122,700 and $132,500 were sold during 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 

The following table shows the composition of the Company’s commercial mortgage loan portfolio, net of valuation allowances, 
by class as of December 31: 
  

 2017  2016 

Industrial $ 970,256  $ 855,885 

Office buildings  477,378   416,303 

Retail facilities  739,360   610,197 

Apartment  582,232   406,102 

Other  273,004   255,950 

 Total  $ 3,042,230  $ 2,544,437 

 
If information is obtained on commercial mortgage loans that indicate a potential problem (likelihood of the borrower not being 
able to comply with the present loan repayment terms), the loan is placed on an internal surveillance list, which is routinely 
monitored by the Company. Among the criteria that would indicate a potential problem are: borrower bankruptcies, major tenant 
bankruptcies, loan relief/restructuring requests, delinquent tax payments, late payments, and vacancy rates. 
 
A valuation allowance is established when it is probable that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due under the 
contractual terms of the loan. The valuation allowance includes a specific allowance for loans that are determined to be 
nonperforming and a general allowance for loans that are on the surveillance list where a probable loss exists but cannot be 
specifically identified to a specific loan. 
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(6) Investments (Continued) 

 
Mortgage Loans (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a summary of the valuation allowance for the mortgage loan portfolio for the years ended 
December 31: 
 

 2017  2016  2015 

Balance at beginning of year $ 2,620  $ 2,431  $ 2,270 

 Addition to (release of) allowance  (999)   189   161 

 Write-downs, net of recoveries  -   -   - 

Balance at end of year $ 1,621  $ 2,620  $ 2,431 

      

End of year valuation allowance basis:      

 Specific allowance $ 204  $ 1,700  $ 1,485 

 General allowance  1,417   920   946 

Total valuation allowance $ 1,621  $ 2,620  $ 2,431 

 
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had two loans with a total carrying value of $1,426, net of a $204 specific valuation 
allowance. The two loans were held in the office class. For those two loans, the interest income recognized for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 was $74. The two loans that had a specific valuation allowance were modified in a troubled debt 
restructuring. A troubled debt restructuring is where the Company grants concessions related to the borrower’s financial 
difficulties. The types of concessions may include: a permanent or temporary modification of the interest rate, extension of the 
maturity date at a lower interest rate and/or a reduction of accrued interest. There were no troubled debt restructurings that 
subsequently defaulted during 2017. The Company did not have any outstanding commitments to lend additional funds to 
borrowers with restructured loans as of December 31, 2017. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company had four loans with a total carrying value of $11,896, net of a $1,700 specific valuation 
allowance. The four loans were held in the office and retail facilities classes. For those four loans, the interest income 
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $839. The four loans that had a specific valuation allowance were 
modified in a troubled debt restructuring. There were no troubled debt restructurings that subsequently defaulted during 2016. 
The Company did not have any outstanding commitments to lend additional funds to borrowers with restructured loans as of 
December 31, 2016. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had no delinquent mortgage loans.  
 

The Company assesses the credit quality of its mortgage loan portfolio by reviewing the performance of its portfolio which 
includes evaluating its performing and nonperforming mortgage loans. Nonperforming mortgage loans include loans that are 
not performing to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Nonperforming mortgage loans do not include restructured 
loans that are current with payments and thus are considered performing. 
 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no nonperforming loans. 
 
Periodically the Company may acquire real estate in satisfaction of debt. The acquired real estate is recognized at the lower 
of the loan’s amortized cost balance or the acquired property’s fair value less expected selling costs. 
 
The following table provides a summary of real estate acquired in satisfaction of mortgage loan debt for the years ended 
December 31: 
 

  2017  2016  2015 

Number of properties acquired   -   -   1 

Carrying value of mortgage loans prior to real estate       

 acquisition  $ -  $ -  $ 5,300 

Loss recognized upon acquisition in satisfaction of debt   -   -   - 
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(6) Investments (Continued) 

 
Alternative Investments 
 
Alternative investments primarily consist of private equity funds, mezzanine debt funds and hedge funds. Alternative 
investments are diversified by type, general partner, vintage year, and geographic location – both domestic and international. 
 
The Company’s composition of alternative investments by type were as follows:  

 

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 

 

Carrying 
value  

Percent 
of total  

Carrying 
value  

Percent 
of total 

Alternative investments:        

 Private equity funds $ 412,350  64.3%  $ 381,860  61.3% 

 Mezzanine debt funds  228,561  35.6%   240,221  38.6% 

 Hedge funds  411  0.1%   595  0.1% 

  Total alternative investments $ 641,322  100.0%  $ 622,676  100.0% 

 

Net Investment Income 
 
Net investment income for the years ended December 31 was as follows: 
 

  2017  2016  2015 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale  $ 611,400  $ 576,244  $ 544,543 

Equity securities, available-for-sale   21,516   17,677   16,097 

Mortgage loans   126,620   116,034   104,155 

Policy loans   27,032   26,019   26,120 

Cash equivalents   1,796   416   33 

Alternative investments   22,768   13,217   21,009 

Derivative instruments   (627)   60   63 

Other invested assets   5,760   3,001   2,397 

 Gross investment income   816,265   752,668   714,417 

Investment expenses   (29,583)   (26,492)   (25,280) 

 Total  $ 786,682  $ 726,176  $ 689,137 

 
Net Realized Investment Gains (Losses) 
 
Net realized investment gains (losses) for the years ended December 31 were as follows: 

 

 2017  2016  2015 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale $ 21,944  $ 13,208  $ (25,713) 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  23,238   4,426   7,912 

Mortgage loans  999   (189)   (377) 

Alternative investments  51,618   25,822   41,761 

Derivative instruments  (55,289)   (47,899)   (22,363) 

Other invested assets  10,015   86   (956) 

Securities held as collateral  -   -   9,379 

 Total $ 52,525   $ (4,546)   $ 9,643 
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(6) Investments (Continued) 

 
Net Realized Investment Gains (Losses) (Continued) 
 
Gross realized gains (losses) on the sales of fixed maturity securities, equity securities and alternative investments for the 
years ended December 31 were as follows:  
 

 2017  2016  2015 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:      

 Gross realized gains $ 51,510  $ 44,363  $ 19,557 

 Gross realized losses  (22,013)   (30,378)   (28,701) 

Equity securities, available-for-sale:      

 Gross realized gains  35,411   20,591   24,828 

 Gross realized losses  (11,342)   (15,587)   (16,003) 

Alternative investments:      

 Gross realized gains  38,304   33,761   39,112 

 Gross realized losses  (777)   (308)   (556) 
 

Other-than-temporary impairments by asset type recognized in net realized investment gains (losses) for the years ended 
December 31 were as follows: 

 

 2017  2016  2015 

Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:      

 US government securities $ 709  $ 654  $ - 

 Corporate securities  6,523   123   16,569 

 Asset-backed securities  321   -   - 

Equity securities, available-for-sale  831   578   913 

 Total other-than-temporary impairments $ 8,384   $ 1,355   $ 17,482 

 

The cumulative credit loss component of other-than-temporary impairments on fixed maturity securities still held by the 
Company at December 31, for which a portion of the other-than-temporary impairment loss was recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss), was as follows: 

 

 2017  2016  2015 

Balance at beginning of year $ 12,824  $ 29,329  $ 17,436 

Additions:      

 Initial impairments – credit loss OTTI recognized on      

  securities not previously impaired  7,553   777   16,569 

 Additional impairments – credit loss OTTI recognized      

  on securities previously impaired  -   -   - 

Reductions:      

 Due to sales (or maturities, pay downs, or prepayments)      

  during the period of securities previously credit loss      

  OTTI impaired  (9,259)   (17,282)   (4,676) 

Balance at end of year $ 11,118  $ 12,824  $ 29,329 
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(7) Derivative Instruments 
 

Derivatives are financial instruments whose values are derived from interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, or other 
financial indices. Derivatives may be exchange-traded or contracted in the OTC market. The Company currently enters into 
derivative transactions that do not qualify for hedge accounting, or in certain cases, elects not to utilize hedge accounting. The 
Company does not enter into speculative positions. Although certain transactions do not qualify for hedge accounting or the 
Company chooses not to utilize hedge accounting, they provide the Company with an assumed economic hedge, which is 
used as part of its strategy for certain identifiable and anticipated transactions. The Company uses a variety of derivatives 
including swaps, swaptions, futures, caps, floors, forwards and option contracts to manage the risk associated with changes 
in estimated fair values related to the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, to generate income and manage other risks 
due to the variable nature of the Company’s cash flows. The Company also issues certain insurance policies that have 
embedded derivatives. 

 

Freestanding derivatives are carried on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets either as assets within derivative 
instruments or as liabilities within other liabilities at estimated fair value as determined through the use of quoted market prices 
for exchange-traded derivatives and interest rate forwards or through the use of pricing models for OTC derivatives. Derivative 
valuations can be affected by changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, financial indices, credit spreads, 
default risk (including the counterparties to the contract), volatility, liquidity and changes in estimates and assumptions used in 
the pricing models. 

 

The Company is exposed to various risks relating to its ongoing business operations, including interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and equity market risk. The Company uses a variety of strategies to attempt to manage these risks. The following 
table presents the notional amount, estimated fair value, and primary underlying risk exposure of the Company’s derivative 
financial instruments, excluding embedded derivatives held: 

 
  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 

    Fair value    Fair value 

Preliminary 
underlying risk 

exposure Instrument type 
Notional 
amount  Assets  

Liabilities 
(1)  

Notional 
amount  Assets  

Liabilities 
(1) 

Interest rate Interest rate            

  swaps $ 411,500  $ 21,527  $ 53  $ 431,500  $ 27,067  $ 53 

 Interest rate            

  swaptions  2,908,000   4,493   -   1,496,000   7,488   - 

 Interest rate            

  futures  366,550   10   10   355,200   10   10 

 Interest rate            

  caps  100,000   -   -   100,000   48   - 

 TBAs  31,045   31,714   -   18,520   18,847   - 

Foreign currency Foreign currency            

  swaps  -   -   -   17,000   4,562   - 

 Foreign currency            

  forwards  -   -   -   218,460   -   721 

Equity market Equity futures  418,431   3   3   474,675   5   5 

 Equity options  10,005,878   443,247   111,280   7,260,013   307,116   70,695 

 Total derivatives $ 14,241,404  $ 500,994  $ 111,346  $ 10,371,368  $ 365,143  $ 71,484 

 
(1) The estimated fair value of all derivatives in a liability position is reported within other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 

 
The Company has steadily increased the volume of derivatives trading throughout 2017 and 2016. This is evident through the 
increase in notional amounts in 2017.  
 
The majority of the freestanding derivatives utilized by the Company, other than TBAs, are for specific economic hedging 
programs related to various annuity and life insurance product liabilities that have market risk. Management considers the 
sales growth of products and the volatility in the interest and equity markets in assessing the trading activity for these programs.  

  
  



MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
(in thousands) 

 

(Continued) 
42 

(7) Derivative Instruments (Continued) 
 

Interest rate swaps are used by the Company primarily to reduce market risks from changes in interest rates and to alter 
interest rate exposure arising from mismatches between assets and liabilities (duration mismatches). In an interest rate swap, 
the Company agrees with another party to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed rate and floating rate 
interest amounts as calculated by reference to an agreed notional principal amount. These transactions are entered into 
pursuant to master agreements that provide for a single net payment to be made by the counterparty at each due date. 

 

Interest rate swaptions are purchased by the Company to manage the impact of interest rate declines and sharply rising interest 
rates. An interest rate swaption allows the Company the option, but not the obligation, to enter into a interest rate swap at a 
future date with the terms established at the time of the purchase. There are two types of interest rate swaptions, payer 
swaptions and receiver swaptions. A payer swaption allows the holder to enter into a swap to pay the fixed rate and receive 
the floating rate. A receiver swaption allows the holder to enter into a swap to receive the fixed rate and pay the floating rate. 
The Company is trading in both types of swaptions. Swaptions require the payment of a premium when purchased. Swaptions 
are based on a specific underlying swap and have an exercise rate and an expiration date. A payer swaption would be 
exercised if the market swap rate is greater than the exercise rate at the expiration date and the value would be the present 
value of the difference between the market swap rate and exercise rate valued as an annuity over the remaining life of the 
underlying swap multiplied by the notional principal. A receiver swaption would be exercised if the market swap rate is less 
than the exercise rate at the expiration date and the value would be the present value of the difference between the exercise 
rate and market swap rate valued as an annuity over the remaining life of the underlying swap multiplied by the notional 
principal. In either case if market swap rates were unfavorable the swaption would be allowed to expire. 

 

Interest rate futures are used by the Company to manage duration in certain portfolios within the general account of the 
Company. In exchange traded interest rate futures transactions, the Company agrees to purchase or sell a specified number 
of contracts, the value of which is determined by the different classes of interest rate securities, and to post variation margin 
on a daily basis in an amount equal to the difference in the daily fair market values of those contracts. The Company enters 
into exchange-traded futures with regulated futures commission merchants that are members of the exchange. Exchange-
traded interest rate futures are used primarily to economically hedge mismatches between the duration of the assets in a 
portfolio and the duration of liabilities supported by those assets, to economically hedge against changes in value of securities 
the Company owns or anticipates acquiring, and to economically hedge against changes in interest rates on anticipated liability 
issuances. The value of interest rate futures is substantially impacted by changes in interest rates and they can be used to 
modify or economically hedge existing interest rate risk. 
  
Interest rate caps are purchased by the Company to manage the impact of sharply rising interest rates on overall investment 
performance. An interest rate cap is a series of call options on a specified interest rate. The Company enters into contracts to 
purchase interest rate caps and receives cash payments from the cap writer when the market rate is above the specified rate 
on the maturity date. The difference between the market rate and specified rate is then multiplied by the notional principal 
amount to determine the payment. If the market rate is less than the specified rate on the maturity date, the Company does 
not receive a payment. 
 
The Company holds TBA forward contracts that require the Company to take delivery of a mortgage-backed security at a 
settlement date in the future. A majority of the TBAs are settled at the first available period allowed under the contract. However, 
the deliveries of some of the Company’s TBA securities happen at a later date, thus extending the forward contract date.  

 
Foreign currency swaps are used by the Company to offset foreign currency exposure on interest and principal payments of 
fixed maturity securities denominated in a foreign currency. In a foreign currency swap transaction, the Company agrees with 
another party to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between one currency and another at a fixed exchange rate, 
generally set at inception, calculated by reference to an agreed upon principal amount. The principal amount of each currency 
is exchanged at the inception and termination of the currency swap by each party. 
 
Foreign currency forwards are used by the Company to reduce the risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 
associated with its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. In a foreign currency forward transaction, the 
Company agrees with another party to deliver a specified amount of an identified currency at a specified future date. The price 
is agreed upon at the time of the contract and payment for such a contract is made in a different currency in the specified future 
date.  
 

  



MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
(in thousands) 

 

(Continued) 
43 
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Equity futures include exchange-traded equity futures as well as VIX futures. VIX futures are used by the Company to reduce 
the variance of its portfolio of equity assets. The VIX is the index of the implied volatility of the S&P 500 Index options and 
represents the expected stock market volatility over the next 30 day period. In exchange-traded equity futures transactions, 
the Company agrees to purchase or sell a specified number of contracts, the value of which is determined by the different 
classes of equity securities, and to post variation margin on a daily basis in an amount equal to the difference in the daily fair 
market values of those contracts. The Company enters into exchange-traded futures with regulated futures commission 
merchants that are members of the exchange. Exchange-traded equity futures are used primarily to hedge liabilities embedded 
in certain variable annuity products and certain indexed universal life products offered by the Company.  
 
Equity options are used by the Company to economically hedge certain risks associated with fixed indexed annuity and indexed 
universal life products which allow the holder to elect an interest rate return or a market component, where interest credited to 
the contracts is linked to the performance of an index.  Certain contract holders may elect to rebalance index options at renewal 
dates.  As of each renewal date, the Company has the opportunity to re-price the indexed component by establishing 
participation rates, caps, spreads and specified rates, subject to contractual guarantees.  The Company purchases equity 
options that are intended to be highly correlated to the portfolio allocation decisions of the contract holders with respect to 
returns for the current reset period. 
 
Equity options are also used by the Company to economically hedge minimum guarantees embedded in certain variable 
annuity products offered by the Company. To economically hedge against adverse changes in equity indices, the Company 
enters into contracts to sell the equity index within a limited time at a contracted price. The contracts will be net settled in cash 
based on differentials in the indices at the time of exercise and the strike price. In certain instances, the Company may enter 
into a combination of transactions to economically hedge adverse changes in equity indices within a pre-determined range 
through the purchase and sale of options.  

 

The following tables present the amount and location of gains (losses) recognized in income from derivatives: 
 

 December 31, 2017 

 

Net realized 
investment gains 

(losses)  
Net investment 

income  Policyholder benefits 

Interest rate swaps $ 3,233  $ (46)  $ - 

Interest rate swaptions  (3,209)   -   - 

Interest rate futures  5,446   -   70 

Interest rate caps  366   (414)   - 

TBAs  (184)   -   - 

Foreign currency swaps  (670)   54   - 

Foreign currency forwards  1,873   (221)   - 

Equity futures  (64,389)   -   27,484 

Equity options  (14,540)   -   280,757 

Total gains (losses) recognized in      

 income from derivatives $ (72,074)   $ (627)  $ 308,311 
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The following tables present the amount and location of gains (losses) recognized in income from derivatives (Continued): 
 

 December 31, 2016 

 

Net realized 
investment gains 

(losses)  
Net investment 

income  Policyholder benefits 

Interest rate swaps $ 10,404  $ (69)  $ - 

Interest rate swaptions  162   -   - 

Interest rate futures  (5,188)   -   (2) 

Interest rate caps  300   (415)   - 

TBAs  697   -   - 

Foreign currency swaps  (577)   553   - 

Foreign currency forwards  (749)   (9)   - 

Equity futures  (58,675)   -   13,181 

Equity options  (14,502)   -   75,832 

Total gains (losses) recognized in      

 income from derivatives $ (68,128)   $ 60  $ 89,011 

 

 December 31, 2015 

 

Net realized 
investment gains 

(losses)  
Net investment 

income  Policyholder benefits 

Interest rate swaps $ 15,753  $ (74)  $ - 

Interest rate swaptions  949   -   - 

Interest rate futures  (7,354)   -   1 

Interest rate caps  42   (414)   - 

TBAs  994   -   - 

Foreign currency swaps  (158)   562   - 

Foreign currency forwards  146   (11)   - 

Equity futures  (15,982)   -   2,106 

Equity options  (4,150)   -   (50,096) 

Total gains (losses) recognized in      

 income from derivatives $ (9,760)   $ 63  $ (47,989) 

 

The Company may be exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative financial 
instruments. Generally, the current credit exposure of the Company’s derivative contracts is limited to the positive estimated 
fair value of derivative contracts at the reporting date after taking into consideration the existence of netting agreements and 
any collateral received pursuant to credit support annexes. 

 

The Company manages its credit risk related to OTC derivatives by entering into transactions with highly rated counterparties, 
maintaining collateral arrangements and through the use of master agreements that provide for a single net payment to be 
made by one counterparty to another at each due date and upon termination. Because exchange traded futures are purchased 
through regulated exchanges, and positions are settled on a daily basis, the Company has minimal exposure to credit-related 
losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to such derivative instruments.  
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(7) Derivative Instruments (Continued) 
 

The Company enters into various collateral arrangements, which require both the pledging and accepting of collateral in 
connection with its derivative instruments. The Company’s collateral arrangements for its OTC derivatives generally require 
the counterparty in a net liability position, after considering the effect of netting arrangements, to pledge collateral when the 
fair value of that counterparty’s derivatives reaches a pre-determined threshold. The Company received collateral from OTC 
counterparties in the form of securities amounting to $367,297 and $268,560 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. Securities collateral received by the Company is held in separate custodial accounts and is not recorded on the 
balance sheet. Credit agreements with counterparties permit the Company to sell or re-pledge this collateral; at December 31, 
2017, none of the collateral had been sold or re-pledged. The Company delivered collateral in the amount of $30,240 and 
$24,765 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company maintained ownership of any collateral delivered. 
Securities collateral pledged by the Company is reported in fixed maturity securities on the balance sheet. 
 
Embedded Derivatives 

 
The Company has certain embedded derivatives that are required to be separated from their host contracts and accounted for 
as derivatives. These embedded derivatives take the form of guaranteed withdrawal benefits on variable annuities, a 
guaranteed payout floor on a variable payout annuity, and interest credits on both fixed indexed annuity and indexed universal 
life products.  

 
The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s embedded derivatives at December 31: 

 

   2017  2016 

Embedded derivatives within annuity products:      

 Minimum guaranteed withdrawal benefits   $ (15,749)  $ (30,224) 

 Minimum guaranteed accumulation benefits    1,062   379 

 Guaranteed payout floors    (2,811)   (4,438) 

 Fixed indexed annuity    (33,332)   (4,563) 

      

Embedded derivatives within life insurance products:      

 Fixed indexed universal life   $ (369,134)  $ (257,539) 
 

The following table presents the changes in fair value recorded in net income related to embedded derivatives for the years 
ended December 31: 

 

 2017  2016  2015 

Embedded derivatives within annuity products:      

 Net realized investment gains (losses) $ 17,795  $ 20,229  $ (12,603) 

 Policyholder benefits  (27,336)   566   255 

      

Embedded derivatives within life insurance products:      

 Policyholder benefits $ (291,926)  $ (159,972)  $ 46,643 
 

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, fixed maturity and equity securities with a carrying value of $30,240 and $24,765, 
respectively, were pledged as collateral to a regulatory authority as part of the Company's derivative program.  
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(8) Variable Interest Entities 
 

The Company is involved with various special purpose entities and other entities that are deemed to be variable interest entities 
(VIE). A VIE is an entity that either has investors that lack certain characteristics of a controlling financial interest or lacks 
sufficient equity to finance its own activities without financial support provided by other entities. 
 
The Company performs ongoing qualitative assessments of its VIEs to determine whether the Company has a controlling 
financial interest in the VIE and is therefore the primary beneficiary. The Company is deemed to have controlling financial 
interest when it has both the ability to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE 
and the obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. 
 
Consolidated VIEs  
 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no material investments or relationships that were consolidated as a VIE.  

 
Non-Consolidated VIEs 
 
The Company, through normal investment activities, makes passive investments in structured securities issued by VIEs. These 
structured securities typically invest in fixed income investments and include asset-backed securities, CMBS and RMBS. The 
Company has not provided financial or other support with respect to these investments other than its original investment. The 
Company has determined it is not the primary beneficiary of these investments due to the relative size of the Company’s 
investment in comparison to the principal amount of the structured securities issued by the VIEs, the level of credit 
subordination, which reduces the Company’s obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits, and the Company’s 
inability to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIEs. The Company’s maximum 
exposure to loss on these structured investments is limited to the amount of the investment. See Note 6 for details regarding 
the carrying amount and classification of these assets.  
 
In addition, the Company invests in alternative investments that may or may not be VIEs. The Company has determined that 
it is not required to consolidate these entities because it does not have the ability to direct the activities of the entities and it 
does not have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the entities that could be potentially significant. 
The maximum exposure to loss associated with the entities is equal to the carrying amounts of the investment in the VIE plus 
any unfunded commitments. The carrying amount was $641,322 and $622,676 and the maximum exposure was $982,481 
and $969,904 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 

(9) Net Finance Receivables 

 
The Company’s finance receivables were segmented by direct installment loans, retail installment notes and direct mail loans.  
 
Finance receivables as of December 31 were as follows: 
 

   2016 

Direct installment loans   $ 340,999 

Retail installment notes    54,808 

Direct mail loans    26,478 

 Gross finance receivables    422,285 

Accrued interest and charges    7,302 

Unearned finance charges    (119,523) 

Allowance for losses    (17,156) 

 Finance receivables, net   $ 292,908 

 
Direct installment loans consisted of discount basis loans and interest-bearing loans, and generally had a maximum term of 
84 months. The retail installment notes were principally discount basis loans with borrowers purchasing household appliances, 
furniture, and sundry services, and generally had a maximum term of 48 months. Direct mail loans were principally originated 
through targeted direct mail campaigns, and generally had a maximum term of 30 months. 
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(9) Net Finance Receivables (Continued) 

 
All segments were reported on a contractual past-due aging. Past-due accounts, net of unearned finance charges, as of 
December 31, were as follows:  
 

   2016 

Direct installment loans:    

 30-60 days past due   $ 9,076 

 61-90 days past due   5,659 

 91 days or more past due    15,520 

  Total direct installment loans     30,255 

Retail installment notes:    

 30-60 days past due   759 

 61-90 days past due   425 

 91 days or more past due    1,169 

  Total retail installment notes    2,353 

Direct mail loans:    

 30-60 days past due    560 

 61-90 days past due    376 

 91 days or more past due    1,037 

  Total direct mail loans    1,973 

   Total finance receivables past due, net of unearned finance charges   $ 34,581 

    

Percentage of finance receivables, net of unearned finance charges   11.4% 
 

The ratio of the allowance for losses to total finance receivables, net of unearned finance charges was 5.5% at December 31, 
2016.  
 
Changes in the allowance for losses for the years ended December 31 were as follows: 
     

 2017  2016  2015 

Balance at beginning of year $ 17,156  $ 16,338  $ 15,789 

Provision for credit losses  5,286   19,646   16,832 

Charge-offs  (7,662)   (26,044)   (22,399) 

Recoveries  2,181   7,216   6,116 

Sale of subsidiary  (16,961)   -   - 

Balance at end of year $ -  $ 17,156  $ 16,338 

 

The following table provides additional information about the allowance for losses as of December 31:  
 

     2016 

Non-impaired gross finance receivables:      

 Gross receivables balance     $ 416,214 

 General reserves      16,909 

      

Impaired gross finance receivables (including TDRs):      

 Gross receivables balance     $ 6,071 

 General reserves      247 
 
All loans, excluding TDRs, deemed to be impaired were placed on non-accrual status. The Company had no impaired loans 
at December 31, 2016. 
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(9) Net Finance Receivables (Continued) 

 
Net investment in receivables on which the accrual of finance charges and interest were suspended and which were being 
accounted for on a cash basis as of December 31: 
 

     2016 

Non-accrual balances:      

 Direct installment loans     $ 25,979 

 Retail installment notes      1,150 

 Direct mail loans      1,600 

  Total non-accrual balances     $ 28,729 

 
There were no investment in receivables past due more than 60 days that were accounted for on an accrual basis at December 
31, 2016. 
 
Loans classified as TDRs were $6,071 at December 31, 2016. The number of loans classified as TDR accounts were 2,732 at 
December 31, 2016. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company modified $9,693 of loans for borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulties, which are classified as TDRs. For loans modified as TDRs during 2016, $2,689 subsequently 
experienced a payment default, during 2016. The Company recognized interest income of $1,041 and $1,240 from loans 
classified as TDRs for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
The Company monitored the credit quality of its financing receivables by loan segment. Within the loan segments, there were 
borrower types that included new, existing, former, refinance and retail borrowers. New borrowers included first-time customers 
where the Company had limited lending and repayment history and would generally had a slightly higher risk profile than 
existing and former borrowers. Existing and former borrowers generally had the lowest credit risk profile as the Company 
already had an established lending and repayment history with these customers. Refinance borrowers included customers that 
have borrowed less than 10% of the current loan balance. The refinance borrower type included a segment of TDR loans that 
had terms of the original loan(s) modified without the receipt of additional consideration. This segment of refinance borrower 
would have had a higher credit risk as the borrower had previously demonstrated a risk of not repaying the loan or may have 
been through personal bankruptcy. Retail borrowers included customers that were typically first-time customers. The risk profile 
was lower with this type of first-time customer as a result of the security associated with the account. The Company also 
monitored credit risk by continually tracking customer payment performance. 
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(9) Net Finance Receivables (Continued) 

 
The following summary is an assessment of the gross finance receivables by class, segment, and credit quality indicator 
reviewed as of December 31, 2016. The Company’s credit risk profiles were based on customer type, customer 
creditworthiness, and customer performance. 
 

   2016 

Customer type:    

 New borrower   $ 63,409 

 Former borrower    29,143 

 Existing borrower    266,698 

 Refinance borrower    8,227 

 Retail borrower    54,808 

  Total gross finance receivables   $ 422,285 

    

Customer creditworthiness:    

 Non-bankrupt gross finance receivables:    

  Direct installment loans   $ 339,769 

  Retail installment notes    54,676 

  Direct mail borrower    26,460 

   Total non-bankrupt gross finance receivables    420,905 

 Bankrupt gross finance receivables:    

  Direct installment loans    1,230 

  Retail installment notes    132 

  Direct mail borrower    18 

   Total bankrupt gross finance receivables    1,380 

   Total gross finance receivables   $ 422,285 

    

Customer payment performance:    

 Direct installment loans:    

  Contractually performing, current to 30 days past due   $ 301,332 

  Contractually performing, 31 to 60 days past due    12,492 

  Contractually nonperforming, 61 or more days past due    27,175 

   Total direct installment loans    340,999 

 Retail installment notes:    

  Contractually performing, current to 30 days past due    51,911 

  Contractually performing, 31 to 60 days past due    983 

  Contractually nonperforming, 61 or more days past due    1,914 

   Total retail installment notes    54,808 

 Direct mail loans:    

  Contractually performing, current to 30 days past due    24,048 

  Contractually performing, 31 to 60 days past due    714 

  Contractually nonperforming, 61 or more days past due    1,716 

   Total direct mail loans    26,478 

   Total gross finance receivables   $ 422,285 
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(10) Income Taxes 

 
Income tax expense varies from the amount computed by applying the federal income tax rate of 35% to income from 
operations before taxes. The significant components of this difference were as follows: 
 

 2017  2016  2015 

Computed income tax expense $ 148,371  $ 97,361  $ 120,459 

Difference between computed and actual tax expense:      

 Dividends received deduction  (28,919)   (28,059)   (23,286) 

 Tax credits  (5,480)   (4,562)   (3,639) 

 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 adjustment  (117,106)   -   - 

 Expense adjustments and other  (1,495)   (175)   646 

 Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (4,629)  $ 64,565  $ 94,180 

 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the Company’s net deferred tax liability at December 31 were as 
follows: 
 

 2017  2016 

Deferred tax assets:    

   Policyholder liabilities $ 134,066  $ 119,292 

   Pension, postretirement and other benefits  15,025   21,580 

   Tax deferred policy acquisition costs  160,636   245,525 

   Deferred gain on individual disability coinsurance  968   2,270 

   Other  5,046   19,242 

      Gross deferred tax assets  315,741   407,909 
 

Deferred tax liabilities:    

   Policyholder liabilities  44,186   - 

   Deferred policy acquisition costs  240,481   378,655 

   Premiums  13,814   21,956 

   Real estate and property and equipment depreciation  7,020   7,058 

   Basis difference on investments  12,892   20,276 

   Net realized capital gains  7,510   1,093 

   Net unrealized capital gains  171,918   149,246 

   Ceding commissions and goodwill   9,044   14,189 

   Other  19,116   33,844 

      Gross deferred tax liabilities  525,981   626,317 

         Net deferred tax liability $ 210,240  $ 218,408 

 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, management determined that no valuation allowance was needed related to tax benefits 
of certain state operating loss carryforwards or for other deferred tax items based on management’s assessment that it is more 
likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized. 
 
There were no changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015. 

 

At December 31, 2017, the Company had no capital loss carryforwards.  
 
Income taxes paid for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, were $114,126, $81,774 and $53,003, 
respectively. 
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(10) Income Taxes (Continued) 

 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows: 
 

  2017  2016 

Balance at beginning of year  $ 4,067  $ 2,712 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year   1,178   1,134 

Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years   (788)   221 

Balance at end of year  $ 4,457  $ 4,067 

 
Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2017 are potential benefits of $4,457 that, if recognized, 
would affect the effective tax rate on income from operations. 
 
As of December 31, 2017, accrued interest and penalties of $147 are recorded as current income tax liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheets and $30 is recognized as a current income tax expense on the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income. 
 
At December 31, 2017, the Company does not expect a significant increase in tax contingencies within the 12 month period 
following the balance sheet date. 

  
On December 22, 2017, H.R. 1 (the "Tax Cuts and Jobs Act " or "New Tax Law") was signed into law.  The New Tax Law, 
which is generally effective on January 1, 2018, provides for a reduction in the top corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 
percent (enacted rate), provides new rules prohibiting carrybacks of life insurance company operating losses for losses 
incurred after 2017, changes insurance company reserving and many other insurance company tax accounting rules, and 
includes other provisions that will have a substantial impact on all forms of taxable and non-taxable entities alike. 

   
The Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 740 (ASC 740) requires companies to recognize 
the effect of tax law changes in the period of enactment by re-measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities to the enacted rate.  
Recognizing the limited time companies had to react to the complex provisions of the New Tax Law, the Securities  Exchange 
Commission staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (SAB 118), which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects 
of the New Tax Law.  SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the New Tax 
Law enactment date for companies to complete the accounting under ASC 740.  In accordance with SAB 118, a company 
must reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the New Tax Law for which the accounting under ASC 740 is complete.  
To the extent that a company’s accounting for certain income tax effects of the New Tax Law is incomplete, but it is able to 
determine a reasonable estimate, it must record a provisional estimate in the financial statements.  If a company cannot 
determine a provisional estimate to be included in the financial statements, it should continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis 
of the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect immediately before the enactment of the New Tax Law. 

 
The Company applied SAB 118 in completing its year-end accounting, including re-measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities 
at December 22, 2017. Any subsequent adjustment during the 12-month measurement period will be included in income from 
operations as an adjustment to income tax expense in 2018.  The re-measurement under the New Tax Law and guidance in 
SAB 118 resulted in a reduction to total income tax expense of $117,106, which included certain provisional amounts under 
SAB 118.  

.  
A provisional amount of $44,186 increased the tax reserve deferred tax asset from policyholder reserve changes and an 
identical amount increased the eight-year-spread deferred tax liability on policyholder reserve changes. The provisional amount 
was computed using estimated methods and will be completed upon the production of the final seriatim tax reserves that reflect 
the New Law requirements. Additionally, the Company had other provisionally determined amounts that were immaterial. 

 
The Company also has other undetermined items under SAB 118 that the Company has not been able to fully assess as of 
December 31, 2017, and as a result has not recognized any provisional impact.  The impact of these items is expected to be 
immaterial to the financial position of the Company. 

 

During 2017, Minnesota Mutual Companies, Inc. and Subsidiaries (MMC) received a refund of tax related to its amended 2014 
return. The IRS chose not to audit the 2014 consolidated return and has not stated their intention to audit the 2014 amended 
return. The Company believes that any additional taxes assessed or refunded as a result of a potential examination of the 
amended return will not have a material impact on its financial position. The IRS has not stated its intention to audit MMC’s 
2015 or 2016 consolidated tax returns. 
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(11) Employee Benefit Plans 

 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans 
 
The Company has a non-qualified non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan covering certain agents. Benefits are based 
upon years of participation and the agent's adjusted annual compensation. Additionally, prior to March 31, 2017, the Company 
had a subsidiary that had a non-contributory defined benefit plan covering all the employees of the subsidiary who were 21 
years of age or older and had completed one year of service. Benefits were based upon years of participation and the 
employee’s average monthly compensation.  
 
The Company also has a postretirement plan that provides certain health care and life insurance benefits to retired agents. 
Eligibility is determined by age at retirement and years of service. Health care premiums are shared with retirees, and other 
cost-sharing features include deductibles and co-payments.  

 

The change in the benefit obligation and plan assets for the Company’s plans as of December 31 was calculated as follows: 
 

  Pension benefits  Other benefits 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Change in benefit obligation:        

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 78,113  $ 75,700  $ 5,181  $ 5,814 

Service cost  353   1,332   193   205 

Interest cost  2,286   3,301   195   232 

Actuarial loss (gain)  2,556   899   (423)   (825) 

Benefits paid  (2,879)   (3,119)   (195)   (245) 

Sale of subsidiary  (32,336)   -   -   - 

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 48,093  $ 78,113  $ 4,951  $ 5,181 

 

Change in plan assets:        

Fair value of plan assets at beginning        

 of year $ 73,002  $ 70,382  $ -  $ - 

Actual return on plan assets  2,313   3,629   -   - 

Employer contribution  2,650   2,110   195   245 

Benefits paid  (2,879)   (3,119)   (195)   (245) 

Sale of subsidiary  (29,567)   -   -   - 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 45,519  $ 73,002    $ -  $ - 

  

Net amount recognized:        

Funded status $ (2,574)  $ (5,111)  $ (4,951)  $ (5,181) 
 

Amounts recognized on the consolidated        

 balance sheets:        

Accrued benefit cost $ (2,574)  $ (5,111)  $ (4,951)  $ (5,181) 

Net amount recognized $ (2,574)  $ (5,111)  $ (4,951)  $ (5,181) 
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(11) Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (Continued) 
 
The change in the benefit obligation and plan assets for the Company’s plans as of December 31 was calculated as follows 
(Continued): 
 

  Pension benefits  Other benefits 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Weighted average assumptions used to        

 determine benefit obligations:        

Discount rate  3.66%   3.92%   3.66%   3.82% 

Rate of compensation increase  -   4.00%   -   - 

 
Weighted average assumptions used to         

 determine net periodic benefit costs:        

Expected long-term return on plan assets  4.99%   5.15%   -   - 

Discount rate  3.92%   4.09%   3.82%   3.95% 

Rate of compensation increase  4.00%   4.00%   -   - 
 

Components of net periodic benefit cost:        

Service cost $ 353  $ 1,332  $ 193  $ 205 

Interest cost  2,286   3,301   195   232 

Expected return on plan assets  (2,225)   (3,624)   -   - 

Prior service benefit amortization  (20)   (79)   (276)   (276) 

Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)  578   891   (222)   (162) 

Net periodic benefit cost $ 972  $ 1,821  $ (110)  $ (1) 

 
Other changes in plan assets and benefit        

 obligations recognized in other         

 comprehensive income (loss):        

Net gain (loss) $ (2,468)  $ (894)  $ 423  $ 825 

Amortization of net loss (gain)  578   891   (222)   (162) 

Amortization of prior service benefit  (20)   (79)   (276)   (276) 

Total recognized in other comprehensive        

 income (loss) $ (1,910)  $ (82)  $ (75)  $ 387 

 

Amounts recognized in accumulated        

 other comprehensive income:        

Net actuarial gain (loss) $ (11,352)  $ (16,389)  $ 3,041  $ 2,840 

Prior service benefit  -   536   1,103   1,379 

Accumulated other comprehensive income         

 (loss) at end of year $ (11,352)  $ (15,853)  $ 4,144  $ 4,219 

 

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 48,093  $ 73,446  $ 4,951  $ 5,181 

        

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation         

 in excess of plan assets:        

Projected benefit obligation $ 48,093  $ 45,521     

Accumulated benefit obligation  48,093   45,521     

Fair value of plan assets  45,519   43,949     
 
Accrued benefit costs are included in pension and other postretirement benefits on the consolidated balance sheets. 
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(11) Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (Continued) 

 

The Company updated its assumptions as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 with respect to its pension and 
postretirement benefit obligations after a review of plan experience. The assumption changes are a component of the net 
actuarial gain (loss). 
  
The estimated net actuarial loss for the pension plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income 
into net periodic benefit cost in 2018 is $935. The estimated prior service credit and net actuarial gain for the other 
postretirement benefit plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost 
in 2018 are $276 and $255, respectively. In 2018, the Company expects to contribute any amounts necessary to meet the 
minimum funding requirements to its non-contributory defined benefit plans. In addition, it may contribute additional tax 
deductible amounts. 

 
Estimated future benefit payments for pension and other postretirement plans:  
 

 

 

  
Pension 
benefits  

Other  
benefits 

       

2018    $ 2,605  $ 306 

2019     2,602   281 
2020     2,566   283 

2021     2,629   280 
2022     2,672   288 

2023 – 2027     14,305   1,392 
 
For measurement purposes, the assumed health care cost trend rates start at 6.80% in 2017 and decrease gradually to 4.40% 
for 2076 and remain at that level thereafter. For 2016, the assumed health care cost trend rates start at 6.60% in 2016 and 
decrease gradually to 4.40% for 2076 and remain at that level thereafter. 

 

The assumptions presented herein are based on pertinent information available to management as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. For example, increasing the assumed health care cost 
trend rates by one percentage point would increase the postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017 by $23 and 
the service cost and interest cost components of net periodic benefit costs for 2017 by $3. Decreasing the assumed health 
care cost trend rates by one percentage point would decrease the postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017 
by $21 and the service cost and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for 2017 by $3. 
 
To determine the discount rate for each plan, the present value of expected future benefit payments used to determine the 
benefit obligation for each plan is calculated based on a theoretical yield curve constructed from a universe of AA rated 
corporate fixed maturity securities. The discount rate for each plan is the single rate which results in the same present value 
of obligations as that obtained using the yield curve. 
 
Historical rates of return for individual asset classes and future estimated returns are used to develop expected rates of return. 
These rates of return are applied to the plan’s investment policy to determine a range of expected returns. The expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets is selected from this range.  

 

Generally, the investment objective of the non-contributory defined benefit plans is to pursue high returns but to limit the 
volatility of returns to levels deemed tolerable, which will mitigate (1) the liquidation of depressed assets for benefit payments, 
(2) the increase in contributions and pension expense due to investment losses, and (3) the decline in the funded ratios due 
to investment losses. This objective is achieved by strategically allocating assets among equity securities, fixed maturity 
securities and other investments.  
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(11) Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (Continued) 

 
The target asset allocation as of December 31, 2017 is 100% to the insurance company general account investment category. 
 
The Company’s non-contributory defined benefit plans weighted average asset allocations by asset category at December 31 
are as follows:   
 

  2017  2016 

Equity securities   0%   16% 
Fixed maturity securities   0%   24% 
Insurance company general account   100%   60% 

 
Equity securities and fixed maturity securities, as classified in the above table, include investments in pooled separate 
accounts. Pooled separate accounts are under a group annuity contract with Minnesota Life Insurance Company and represent 
segregated funds administered by an unaffiliated asset management firm and consist principally of marketable fixed maturity 
and equity securities.  
 
The insurance company general account, as classified in the above table, represents assets held within the general account 
of Minnesota Life Insurance Company. The assets of the insurance company, backing the insurance company general account, 
principally consist of fixed maturity securities, commercial mortgage loans and equity securities. 
 
At times, investments may be made in nontraditional asset classes with the approval of the Company’s non-contributory defined 
benefit plan trustees.  
 
The Company’s investment policy includes various guidelines and procedures designed to ensure that the plans’ assets can 
reasonably be expected to achieve the objective of the policy. The investment policy is periodically reviewed by the plans’ 
respective trustees. 
 
The fair value of the Company’s pension plan financial assets and financial liabilities has been determined using available 
market information as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. Although the Company is not aware of any factors that would 
significantly affect the fair value of the pension plan financial assets and financial liabilities, such amounts have not been 
comprehensively revalued since those dates. Therefore, estimates of fair value subsequent to the valuation dates may differ 
significantly from the amounts presented herein. Considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to develop the 
estimates of fair value. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect 
on the estimated fair value amounts. 
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and 
minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in valuing 
a financial instrument based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs reflect 
the Company’s estimates about the assumptions market participants would use in valuing financial assets and financial 
liabilities based on the best information available in the circumstances. 
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(11) Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (Continued) 

 
The Company is required to categorize its financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheets 
according to a three-level hierarchy. A level is assigned to each financial asset and financial liability based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The levels of fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 

Level 1 – Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market. The types 
of assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 valuations generally include cash, money-market funds and actively-traded equity 
securities. 
  
Level 2 – Fair value is based on significant inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable in 
active markets for identical or similar assets and liabilities. The types of assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 valuations 
generally include certain investments in pooled separate accounts. 
 
Level 3 – Fair value is based on at least one or more significant unobservable inputs. These inputs reflect the Company’s 
assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities. The types of assets and 
liabilities utilizing Level 3 valuations generally include private equity investments, certain investments in pooled separate 
accounts which invest in privately placed fixed maturities and investments in an insurance company general account. 

 
The Company uses prices and inputs that are current as of the measurement date. In periods of market disruption, the ability 
to observe prices and inputs may be reduced, which could cause an asset or liability to be reclassified to a lower level. 
 
Inputs used to measure fair value of an asset or liability may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In these 
situations, the Company will determine the level in which the fair value falls based upon the lowest level input that is significant 
to the determination of the fair value. 
 
The following tables summarize the Company’s pension benefit plans’ financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis: 
 

December 31, 2017  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Insurance company general account $ -  $ -  $ 45,519  $ 45,519 

 Total financial assets $ -  $ -  $ 45,519  $ 45,519 

 

December 31, 2016  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Investments in pooled separate accounts $ -  $ 29,053  $ -  $ 29,053 

Insurance company general account  -   -   43,949   43,949 

 Total financial assets $ -  $ 29,053  $ 43,949  $ 73,002 

 
Investments in pooled separate accounts 

 
Investments in pooled separate accounts are stated at the corresponding unit value of the pooled separate account, which 
represents fair value. Investments in pooled separate accounts are classified as Level 2 as the values are based upon quoted 
prices or reported net asset values provided by asset management firms with little readily determinable public pricing 
information. 
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(11) Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (Continued) 

 
Insurance company general account 
 
Deposits in the insurance company general account are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which represents fair value. The 
assets of the insurance company, backing the insurance company general account, principally consist of fixed maturity 
securities, commercial mortgage loans and equity securities. The deposits in the insurance company general account are 
classified as Level 3 as fair value is based on unobservable inputs. 
 
The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of the Company’s pension benefit plans’ Level 3 financial 
assets held at fair value on a recurring basis during the year ended December 31, 2017: 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year  

Total appreciation 
(depreciation) in fair 

value  

Purchases, 
sales and 

settlements, 
net  

Balance at 
end of 
year 

Insurance company general account $ 43,949  $ 1,570  $ -  $ 45,519 

 
The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of the Company’s pension benefit plans’ Level 3 financial 
assets held at fair value on a recurring basis during the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year  

Total appreciation 
(depreciation) in fair 

value  

Purchases, 
sales and 

settlements, 
net  

Balance at 
end of 
year 

Insurance company general account $ 42,379  $ 1,570  $ -  $ 43,949 

 

Transfers of securities among the levels occur at the beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers between Level 
1 and Level 2 for the years ending December 31, 2017 and 2016. There were no transfers in to or out of level 3 for the years 
ending December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
 
The Plans did not have any assets or liabilities reported at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. 
 
Profit Sharing Plans 
 
The Company also has a profit sharing plan covering substantially all agents. The Company’s contribution is made as a certain 
percentage based on voluntary contribution rates and applied to each eligible agent’s annual contribution. The Company 
recognized contributions to the plan during 2017, 2016, and 2015 of $1,426, $1,493, and $1,551, respectively. 
 

  



MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
(in thousands) 

 

(Continued) 
58 

(12) Liability for Pending Policy and Contract Claims 

 
Liability for Unpaid Claims and Claim Loss Adjustment Expenses 
 
The following table provides activity in the liability for unpaid claims and loss adjustment expenses related to all insurance 
contracts: 
 

 2017  2016 (1)  2015 (1) 

Balance at January 1 $ 974,905  $ 998,963  $ 998,008 

   Less: reinsurance recoverable  554,298   596,715   644,590 

Net balance at January 1  420,607   402,248   353,418 

Incurred related to:      

   Current year  2,122,998   2,114,463   2,050,232 

   Prior years  22,504   14,108   33,412 

Total incurred  2,145,502   2,128,571   2,083,644 

Paid related to:      

   Current year  1,737,709   1,754,370   1,711,861 

   Prior years  374,779   355,842   322,953 

Total paid  2,112,488   2,110,212   2,034,814 

Net balance at December 31  453,621   420,607   402,248 

   Plus: reinsurance recoverable  530,594   554,298   596,715 

Balance at December 31 $ 984,215  $ 974,905  $ 998,963 

 
(1) The previously issued 2016 financial statements only disclosed information for accident and health unpaid claims and loss adjustment 

expenses. The revised 2016 and 2015 information represents an immaterial correction of error to conform to the 2017 presentation 
that includes unpaid claim and claim adjustment expense information for all short-duration and long-duration contracts. 

 

As a result of changes in estimates of claims incurred in prior years, the unpaid claims and claim and loss adjustment expenses 
incurred increased by $22,504, $14,108, and $33,412 in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The amounts are the result of 
normal reserve development inherent in the uncertainty of establishing the liability for unpaid claims and claim and loss 
adjustment expenses. 

 

Short-Duration Contracts 
 
Certain short-duration contracts are offered within the Company’s financial institution and group insurance products.  
 
Claim and claim adjustment expense liabilities are set using a combination of actuarial methods. The liabilities are computed 
using assumptions for mortality, morbidity, and other performance. These assumptions are based on the Company’s 
experience, industry results, emerging trends and future expectations. Claim frequency is primarily based on reported claims 
assigned to individual claimants. Claim counts may initially include claims that do not ultimately result in a liability. These claims 
are omitted from claim counts once it is determined that there is no liability. The information about incurred and paid loss 
development for all periods preceding year ended December 31, 2017 and the related historical claims payout percentage 
disclosure is unaudited and is presented as supplementary information. 
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(12) Liability for Pending Policy and Contract Claims (Continued) 

 
Short-Duration Contracts (Continued) 
 
Incurred and paid claims, net of reinsurance, including allocated claim adjustment expenses, by product and by incurral year 
are summarized below along with the liability for incurred but not reported claims plus expected development on reported 
claims (IBNR) and the cumulative number of individual claims reported (reported claims) by incurral year as of December 31, 
2017: 
 
Financial Institution Products 
 

  Net cumulative incurred claims (1)     

Incurral 
year 

 

2012 (2)  2013 (2)  2014 (2)   2015 (2) 

 

 2016 (2)   2017 

 

IBNR 

 Reported 
claims 

2012  $ 54,455  $ 54,178  $ 52,935  $ 52,329  $ 52,167  $ 52,086  $ -   22 

2013   -   51,855   48,403   47,156   46,757   46,669   180   21 

2014   -   -   51,766   46,894   46,420   46,291   404   20 

2015   -   -   -   46,961   41,975   41,409   779   19 

2016   -   -   -   -   51,259   45,830   1,779   20 

2017   -   -   -   -   -   46,745   7,817   18 

   Total            $ 279,030     

 
(1) 2012 – 2016 unaudited. 
(2) Information from 2012 - 2016 has been updated to conform with 2017 presentation which includes certain short-duration contracts that were excluded for 

2016 reporting. 

 

  Net cumulative paid claims (1)     

Incurral 
year 

 

2012 (2)  2013 (2)  2014 (2)   2015 (2) 

 

 2016 (2)   2017 

 

 

 

 

2012  $ 30,050  $ 43,790  $ 47,852  $ 50,285  $ 51,341  $ 51,872     

2013   -   26,544   39,328   43,037   44,916   45,849     

2014   -   -   27,811   39,051   42,496   44,467     

2015   -   -   -   23,864   34,412   37,767     

2016   -   -   -   -   26,886   38,171     

2017   -   -   -   -   -   24,015     

   Total            $ 242,141     

                 

  Outstanding liabilities prior to 2012        $ 162     

                 

 Liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance  $ 37,051     

 
(1) 2012 – 2016 unaudited. 
(2) Information from 2012 - 2016 has been updated to conform with 2017 presentation which includes certain short-duration contracts that were excluded for 

2016 reporting. 
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(12) Liability for Pending Policy and Contract Claims (Continued) 

 
Short-Duration Contracts (Continued) 
 
Incurred and paid claims, net of reinsurance, including allocated claim adjustment expenses, by product and by incurral year 
are summarized below along with the IBNR liability and the reported claims by incurral year as of December 31, 2017 
(Continued): 
 
Group Insurance Products 
 

 
 

Net cumulative incurred claims (1)  
  

 

Incurral 
year 

 

2012 (2)  2013 (2)  2014 (2)   2015 (2) 

 

 2016 (2) 

 

 2017  IBNR 

 
Reported 

claims 

2012 
 

$ 1,079,158  $ 1,084,290  $ 1,088,187  $ 1,088,815 
 

$ 1,088,798 
 

$ 1,089,450  $ - 
 

 41 

2013 
 

 -   1,228,500   1,223,119   1,223,988 
 

 1,223,498 
 

 1,223,688   - 
 

 44 

2014 
 

 -   -   1,314,365   1,296,503 
 

 1,296,691 
 

 1,298,118   - 
 

 47 

2015 
 

 -   -   -   1,554,355 
 

 1,538,148 
 

 1,540,448   698 
 

 52 

2016 
 

 -   -   -   - 
 

 1,570,311 
 

 1,558,510   2,793 
 

 54 

2017 
 

 -   -   -   - 
 

 - 
 

 1,545,168   66,337 
 

 44 

   Total 
 

       
 

 
 

$ 8,255,382   
 

 

 
(1) 2012 – 2016 unaudited. 
(2) Information for 2012 - 2016 has been updated to conform with 2017 presentation which excludes certain long-duration features of insurance contracts that had been included for 

2016 reporting. 

 

 
 

Net cumulative paid claims (1)  
  

 

Incurral 
year 

 

2012 (2)  2013 (2)  2014 (2)   2015 (2) 

 

 2016 (2) 

 

 2017   

 

 

2012 
 

$ 909,427  $ 1,071,143  $ 1,078,645  $ 1,083,489 
 

$ 1,086,317 
 

$ 1,087,240   
 

 

2013 
 

 -   1,033,152   1,205,189   1,214,799 
 

 1,219,482 
 

 1,221,173   
 

 

2014 
 

 -   -   1,113,019   1,277,315 
 

 1,289,281 
 

 1,294,673   
 

 

2015 
 

 -   -   -   1,291,045 
 

 1,517,267 
 

 1,530,861   
 

 

2016 
 

 -   -   -   - 
 

 1,296,222 
 

 1,534,885   
 

 

2017 
 

 -   -   -   - 
 

 - 
 

 1,257,210   
 

 

   Total 
 

       
 

 
 

$ 7,926,042   
 

 

 
 

       
 

 
 

   
 

 

  Outstanding liabilities prior to 2012     
 

 
 

$ 2,107   
 

 

 
 

       
 

 
 

   
 

 

 Liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance 
 

$ 331,447   
 

 

 
(1) 2012 – 2016 unaudited. 
(2) Information for 2012 - 2016 has been updated to conform with 2017 presentation which excludes certain long-duration features of insurance contracts that had been included for 

2016 reporting. 
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(12) Liability for Pending Policy and Contract Claims (Continued) 

 
Short-Duration Contracts (Continued) 
 
The reconciliation by product of the liability for pending policy and contract claims relating to short-duration contracts to the 
total liability for pending policy and contract claims on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 is as follows: 
 

 

 

  

Financial 
institution 
products  

Group 
insurance 
 products 

 

Total 

Liability for short-duration pending policy         
   and contract claims, net of reinsurance    $ 37,051  $ 331,447  $ 368,498 

Reinsurance recoverable on pending policy         

   and contract claims     7,697   115,031   122,728 
Less: other liabilities (1)     30,922   23,537   54,459 

      Short-duration claims recorded within         

         pending policy and contract claims         

         on the consolidated balance sheet    $ 13,826  $ 422,941   436,767 

Long-duration pending policy and          

 contract claims         141,034 

   Pending policy and contract claims        $ 577,801 

 
(1) Includes contracts that are recorded in line items other than pending policy and contract claims on the consolidated balance sheet. 

 

Supplementary information on the historical average annual percentage payoff of incurred claims, net of reinsurance, by 
product and accident year for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows(1): 
 

Incurral year  

 

  

Financial 
institution 
products  

Group 
insurance  
products 

1      57.1%   83.7% 

2      25.6%   14.3% 

3      7.8%   0.8% 
4      4.3%   0.4% 

5      2.0%   0.2% 

6      1.0%   0.1% 
 

(1) Unaudited. 

 
(13) Reinsurance 

 

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to limit its exposure to loss on any single insured and to recover a portion 
of benefits paid by ceding reinsurance to other insurance companies. To the extent that a reinsurer is unable to meet its 
obligation under the reinsurance agreement, the Company remains liable. The Company evaluates the financial condition of 
its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk to minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer 
insolvencies. Allowances are established for amounts deemed to be uncollectible. 

 

Reinsurance is accounted for over the lives of the underlying reinsured policies using assumptions consistent with those used 
to account for the underlying policies. 

 

The effect of reinsurance on premiums for the years ended December 31 was as follows: 
 

 2017  2016  2015 

Direct premiums $ 4,269,262  $ 3,168,212  $ 2,861,954 

Reinsurance assumed  6,873   8,227   8,760 

Reinsurance ceded  (714,902)   (704,706)   (650,247) 

 Net premiums $ 3,561,233  $ 2,471,733  $ 2,220,467 

 
 Reinsurance recoveries on ceded reinsurance contracts included in policyholder benefits on the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income were $673,671, $682,956 and $639,260 during 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. 
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(14) Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and Separate Accounts 

 
The Company issues certain nontraditional long-duration contracts including universal life, variable life and deferred annuities 
that contain either certain guarantees or sales inducements. 
 
The Company issues variable contracts through its separate accounts for which investment income and investment gains and 
losses accrue directly to, and investment risk is borne by, the contractholder. The Company also issues variable annuity 
contracts through separate accounts where the Company contractually guarantees to the contractholder either (a) return of no 
less than total deposits made to the contract adjusted for partial withdrawals, (b) total deposits made to the contract adjusted 
for partial withdrawals plus a minimum return, (c) the highest contract value on a specified anniversary date adjusted for 
withdrawals following the contract anniversary, or (d) a minimum payment on a variable immediate annuity. These guarantees 
include benefits that are payable in the event of death, withdrawal or annuitization based upon the specific contract selected. 
The Company also issues fixed indexed annuities through its general account where the Company guarantees to the 
contractholder either (a) return of no less than total deposits made to the contract adjusted for partial withdrawals, (b) total 
deposits made to the contract adjusted for partial withdrawals plus a minimum return, (c) the highest contract value on a 
specified anniversary date adjusted for withdrawals following the contract anniversary. The Company also issues universal life 
and variable life contracts where the Company provides to the contractholder a no-lapse guarantee.  

 

The assets supporting the variable portion of the traditional variable annuities, variable contracts with guarantees, universal 
life and variable life contracts are carried at fair value and reported as summary total separate account assets with an equivalent 
summary total reported for liabilities. For variable annuity contracts, amounts assessed against the contractholders for 
mortality, administrative, and other services are included in policy and contract fees, changes in liabilities for minimum 
guarantees on deferred annuities are included in policyholder benefits, and changes in liabilities for the minimum guaranteed 
payments on variable immediate annuities and the minimum withdrawal benefits on variable deferrable annuities are included 
in net realized investment gains (losses) on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. For 
universal life and variable life contracts, the amounts assessed against the contractholders for mortality, administrative, and 
other services are included in policy and contract fees and changes in liabilities for guaranteed benefits are included in 
policyholder benefits on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. For variable annuity, universal 
life and variable life contracts, separate account net investment income, net investment gains and losses and the related 
liability changes are offset within the same line item on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. 
There were no investment gains or losses on transfers of assets from the general account to the separate account during 
2017, 2016 or 2015.  
 

The Company’s variable annuity contracts with guarantees may offer more than one type of guarantee in each contract; 
therefore, the amounts listed are not mutually exclusive. For guarantees of amounts in the event of death, the net amount at 
risk is defined as the current guaranteed minimum death benefit in excess of the current account balance at the balance sheet 
date. For guaranteed withdrawal amounts, the net amount at risk is defined as the present value of future withdrawal benefits 
in excess of the current account balance. For guarantees of amounts at annuitization, the net amount at risk is defined as the 
present value of the minimum guaranteed annuity payments a in excess of the current account balance. For the guaranteed 
payout annuity floor, the net amount at risk is defined as the guaranteed benefit in excess of the current benefit payable, 
assuming the guaranteed and current benefit amounts remain constant. For universal life and variable life contracts the net 
amount at risk is defined as the current death benefit in excess of the current balance, excluding reinsurance.  
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(14) Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and Separate Accounts (Continued) 

 
At December 31, the Company had the following variable annuity contracts with guarantees: 

 
 2017  2016 

Return of net deposits:    
 In the event of death    
 Account value $ 4,938,775  $ 4,461,164 
 Net amount at risk $ 3,474  $ 31,335 
 Average attained age of contractholders  63.6   62.9 

 As withdrawals are taken    
 Account value $ 332,389  $ 316,657 
 Net amount at risk $  40  $  74 
 Average attained age of contractholders  70.1   69.7 

Return of net deposits plus a minimum return:    

 In the event of death    
 Account value $ 328,161  $ 276,717 
 Net amount at risk $  21,244  $  28,968 
 Average attained age of contractholders  70.0   69.4 

 At annuitization    
 Account value $ 462,208  $ 462,113 
 Net amount at risk $ 1,295  $ 2,564 
 Weighted average period remaining until expected    
  annuitization (in years)  1.9   2.8 
 As withdrawals are taken    
 Account value $ 3,334,917  $ 2,953,311 
 Net amount at risk $ 3,209  $ 2,461 

 Average attained age of contractholders  64.6   64.0 
 

 2017  2016 

Highest specified anniversary account value:    

 In the event of death    
 Account value $ 725,007  $ 695,763 
 Net amount at risk $  3,290  $  16,237 
 Average attained age of contractholders  64.5   63.7 

 Account value adjustment on 10th contract anniversary    

 Account value $ 73,631  $ 56,157 

 Net amount at risk $ 2  $ - 

 Weighted average period remaining until expected annuitization (in years)  59.8   59.1 

Guaranteed payout annuity floor:    
 Account value $ 50,840  $ 47,341 
 Net amount at risk $ -  $ 204 
 Average attained age of contractholders  75.4   74.8 

 
At December 31, the Company had the following fixed indexed annuity contracts with guarantees: 

 
 2017   

 As withdrawals are taken    

 Account value $ 145,581   

 Net amount at risk $ 577   

 Average attained age of contractholders  62.1   
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(14) Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and Separate Accounts (Continued) 

 
At December 31, the Company had the following universal life and variable life contracts with guarantees: 
 

 2017  2016 

Account value (general and separate accounts) $ 7,829,452  $ 6,653,271 

Net amount at risk $  54,972,640  $  54,920,546 

Average attained age of policyholders  51.0   50.0 
 
Liabilities for guarantees on variable annuity, indexed annuity, universal life and variable life  contracts reflected in the general 
account as of December 31, 2017 were as follows: 
 

 

Minimum 
guaranteed death 

and income 
benefits  

Guaranteed 
payout annuity 

floor  

Minimum 
guaranteed 

withdrawal and 
accumulation 

benefit  

No lapse 
guarantee 

universal life and 
variable life 

        

Balance at beginning of year $ 7,065  $ 4,438  $ 29,845  $ 119,190 

Incurred guarantee benefits  (709)   (1,625)   (15,158)   31,845 

Paid guaranteed benefits  (741)   (2)   -   (13,673) 

Balance at end of year $ 5,615  $ 2,811  $ 14,687  $ 137,362 

 

Liabilities for guarantees variable annuity, universal life and variable life contracts reflected in the general account as of 
December 31, 2016 were as follows: 
 

 

Minimum 
guaranteed death 

and income 
benefits  

Guaranteed 
payout annuity 

floor  

Minimum 
guaranteed 

withdrawal and 
accumulation 

benefit  

No lapse 
guarantee 

universal life and 
variable life 

        
Balance at beginning of 
year $ 8,580  $ 5,661  $ 48,851  $ 98,056 

Incurred guarantee benefits  388   (1,176)   (19,006)   33,749 

Paid guaranteed benefits  (1,903)   (47)   -   (12,615) 

Balance at end of year $ 7,065  $ 4,438  $ 29,845  $ 119,190 

 
The minimum guaranteed death benefit liability and the guaranteed minimum income liability is determined each period end 
by estimating the expected value of death benefits in excess of the projected account balance and recognizing the excess 
ratably over the accumulation period based on total expected assessments. The guaranteed payout annuity floor and minimum 
guaranteed withdrawal benefits are considered to be derivatives and are recognized at fair value through earnings. The 
universal life and variable life no lapse guarantee liabilities are determined by estimating the expected value of death benefits 
in excess of projected account balances and recognizing the excess ratably over the accumulation period based on total 
expected assessments. For variable annuity, fixed indexed annuity, universal life and variable life contracts with guarantees, 
the Company regularly evaluates estimates used and adjusts the additional liability balance, with a related charge or credit to 
benefit expense, if actual experience or other evidence suggests that earlier assumptions should be revised.  
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(14) Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and Separate Accounts (Continued) 

 
The following assumptions and methodology were used to determine the minimum guaranteed death and income benefit 
liability on variable annuities and fixed indexed annuities at December 31, 2017 and variable annuities at December 31, 2016 
(except where noted otherwise):  

 

• A sample selection tool was used to select 200 scenarios from a set of 10,000 stochastically generated investment 
performance scenarios.  

• Mean investment performance was 5.20% and 5.60% for 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is consistent with DAC 
projections over a 10 year period.  

• Annualized monthly standard deviation was 12.00%. 

• For 2017, assumed mortality was 100% if the 2012 Individual Annuity Mortality Basis table. For 2016, the assumed 
mortality was 100% of the A2000 table. 

• Lapse rates varied by contract type and policy duration, ranging from 1.00% to 10.00% and 1.00% to 12.00% for 2017 
and 2016, respectively, with an average of 8.00% for both 2017 and 2016.  

• Discount rates varied by contract type and policy duration and were consistent with discount rates used in DAC 
models. 

 
The following assumptions and methodology, which are consistent with those used for DAC models, were used to determine 
the universal life and variable life liability at December 31, 2017 and 2016 (except where noted otherwise):  

 

• Separate account investment performance assumption was 7.25%. 

• Assumed mortality was 100% of pricing levels. 

• Lapse rates varied by policy duration, ranging from 2.00% to 9.00%. 

• Long-term general account discount rate grades from the current yield curve up to 5.50% linearly over ten years 
and from the current yield curve up to 5.75% linearly over ten years for 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 
Account balances for contracts with guarantees were invested in variable separate accounts by mutual fund grouping as follows 
at December 31: 
 

 Variable annuity contracts  Variable life contracts 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

        

Equity $ 2,394,718  $ 2,207,834  $ 1,977,062  $ 1,681,955 

Bond  932,998   900,737   222,733   216,544 

Balanced  2,490,757   2,138,292   392,431   342,237 

Money market  35,028   43,462   20,714   26,298 

Mortgage  54,948   57,671   31,374   32,326 

Real estate  83,494   85,648   60,101   68,683 

   Total $ 5,991,943  $ 5,433,644  $ 2,704,415  $ 2,368,043 

 
(15) Unremitted Premiums and Claims Payable 

 

The Company acts as an agent of certain insurance underwriters and has a fiduciary responsibility to remit the appropriate 
percentage of monies collected from each financial institution customer to the corresponding insurance underwriters. The 
remittance is equal to the premiums collected from the financial institution customer, less any commissions earned by the 
Company. The Company recognizes a liability equal to the amount of the premiums that have not yet been remitted to the 
insurance underwriters. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the liability associated with unremitted premiums and claims payable 
was $41,762 and $40,850, respectively and is reported as part of other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. As 
described in note 2, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had restricted the use of $41,762 and $40,850, 
respectively, of its cash and cash equivalents to satisfy these premium and claims remittance payables. 
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(16) Short-term and Long-term Debt 
 

Liabilities for short-term and long-term debt are carried at an amount equal to unpaid principal balance. Short-term debt is debt 
coming due in the next 12 months. 
 
Short-term Debt 
 
The following table provides a summary of short-term debt and related collateral for that debt as of December 31: 
 
 Liability  Collateral 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Reverse repurchase agreement $ 20,000  $ 50,000  $ 20,747  $ 57,038 
 
Periodically, the Company may enter into short-term reverse repurchase agreements in order to borrow funds for short-term 
operating needs or facilitate trading activity. In a reverse repurchase agreement, the Company transfers specified securities 
to a counterparty in exchange for cash and simultaneously agrees to reacquire the same, or substantially the same, securities 
at a future date for an amount equal to the cash exchanged plus an interest factor. The contractual maturity of any reverse 
repurchase agreement does not exceed three months. The Company maintains effective control over the securities and 
accounts for these agreements as collateralized borrowings. The short-term debt is collateralized by fixed maturity RMBS 
securities which are included in fixed maturity securities available-for-sale on the consolidated balance sheets. The difference 
between the proceeds and the amount at which the securities will be subsequently reacquired is recorded as a general 
operating expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. 

 

Long-term Debt 
 
The following table provides a summary of long-term debt as of December 31: 
 
     2017  2016 

Surplus notes     $ 118,000  $ 118,000 

Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings      350,000   350,000 

 Total long-term debt     $ 468,000  $ 468,000 

 
In September 1995, the Company issued surplus notes with a face value of $125,000, at 8.25%, due in 2025. The surplus 
notes are subordinate to all current and future policyholders interests, including claims, and indebtedness of the Company.  
  
All payments of interest and principal on the notes are subject to the approval of the Minnesota Department of Commerce 
(Department of Commerce). As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the accrued interest was $2,832. Interest paid on the surplus 
notes for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $9,735, $9,735 and $9,735, respectively.  
 
The Company has entered into a membership agreement with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines (FHLB), providing 
an efficient way to set up a borrowing facility with access to low cost funding. The total borrowing capacity is dependent on the 
amount and type of Company assets. The outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2017 have a maturity of one, three and 
seven years with principal due at those times. The Company pledged $850,793 of fixed maturity securities as collateral as of 
December 31, 2017. At that time, the Company had the capacity for either long-term or short-term borrowings of approximately 
$384,482 without pledging additional collateral. If the fair value of the pledged collateral falls below the required collateral for 
the outstanding borrowed amount, the Company is required to pledge additional collateral. The Company also currently holds 
FHLB common stock of $24,000, as required. The FHLB common stock is not classified as available-for-sale and is carried at 
cost, which approximates fair value, and is recorded in other invested assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
At December 31, 2017, the aggregate minimum annual long-term debt maturities for the next five years and thereafter are as 
follows: 2018, $200,000; 2019, $75,000; 2020, $50,000; 2021, $25,000; 2022, $0; thereafter, $118,000. 
 
Total interest paid by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $13,880, $11,633 and 
$10,601, respectively. 
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(17) Business Combinations 
 

During 2016, the Company acquired the account rights of an insurance agency. The aggregate purchase price of $851 was 
allocated to various assets and liabilities including $783 to finite-lived intangible assets and $68 to goodwill.  
 
During 2015, the Company acquired the account rights of an insurance agency. The aggregate purchase price of $725 was 
allocated to various assets and liabilities including $658 to finite-lived intangible assets and $67 to goodwill. During 2015, the 
Company completed the fair value evaluation of assets acquired related to 2014 business combinations, which resulted in a 
decrease to goodwill of $91. 
 
The amount of acquisition-related additional cash consideration the Company may have to pay in 2018 and future years if 
certain thresholds are attained is $5,375 of which $1,919 was accrued at December 31, 2017. 
 

(18) Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
 

The amount of goodwill included on the consolidated balance sheets in goodwill and intangible assets, net, as of December 
31, was as follows: 
 

 2017  2016 

Balance at beginning of year $ 109,146  $ 109,078 

Additions  -   68 

Adjustments to prior year acquisitions  -   - 

 Balance at end of year $ 109,146  $ 109,146 

 
Goodwill is not amortized but instead is subject to impairment tests. There were no impairments for the years ended December 
31, 2017, 2016, and 2015.  
 
The amount of finite-lived intangible assets, excluding the value of acquired inforce contracts within DAC, included on the 
consolidated balance sheets in goodwill and intangible assets, net, was as follows: 
 

December 31, 2017 

 

Customer 
relationships 

 

Other 

 

Total finite-lived 
intangible assets 

Gross carrying amount  $ 61,332  $ 9,604  $ 70,936 

Accumulated amortization   (36,882)   (8,100)   (44,982) 

   Net carrying amount  $ 24,450  $ 1,504  $ 25,954 

 

December 31, 2016 

 

Customer 
relationships 

 

Other 

 

Total finite-lived 
intangible assets 

Gross carrying amount  $ 61,332  $ 9,604  $ 70,936 

Accumulated amortization   (32,434)   (7,791)   (40,225) 

   Net carrying amount  $ 28,898  $ 1,813  $ 30,711 

 
The Company did not acquire any finite-lived intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2017. Finite-lived 
intangible assets acquired during the year ended December 31, 2016 were $783 with a weighted average amortization period 
of 4 years.  

 
The appropriate estimated useful life for each intangible asset class is reviewed annually. A change in expected useful life 
could potentially indicate impairment of these assets. The Company completes annual impairment testing of all intangible 
assets. The annual review did not result in any changes to the expected useful lives and no intangible impairments were 
recorded in 2017, 2016, or 2015. 
 

Intangible asset amortization expense for 2017, 2016, and 2015 in the amount of $4,757, $6,353, and $7,108, respectively, is 
included in general operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. Projected 
amortization expense for the next five years is as follows: 2018, $4,293; 2019, $3,963; 2020, $3,825; 2021, $3,735; 2022, 
2,023. 



MINNESOTA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
(in thousands) 

 

(Continued) 
68 

(19) Related Party Transactions 

 
The Company has investment advisory agreements with an affiliate, Advantus. Under these agreements, the Company pays 
quarterly investment management fees based on total assets managed. Investment management fees paid by the Company 
were $19,258, $23,207 and $22,127 during 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
amount due to Advantus under these agreements was $10,606 and $9,041, respectively. 
 
The Company also has an agreement with an affiliate, Securian Financial Services, Inc. (SFS). Under this agreement, SFS is 
the distributor of the Company’s fixed and variable annuity, variable life and certain life and annuity indexed products. Fees 
paid by the Company for the performance of compliance functions for these products totaled $1,200, $1,157 and $1,041 for 
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company also recognized commission expense of 
$93,911, $104,747 and $107,690 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company 
recognized commissions payable to SFS in the amounts of $2,223 and $2,561 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 
2016, respectively.  

 
Under a marketing services agreement with SFS, the Company collects commissions for the sale of certain insurance products. 
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company collected commissions of $4,519, $3,966 and $3,692, 
respectively. 
 
Under an assignment agreement with SFS, 12(b)-1 fees from the affiliated Securian Funds Trust Funds and the Waddell & 
Reed Target Portfolios are transferred to the Company. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the amounts 
transferred were $15,872, $14,404, and $14,776, respectively. 
 
The Company has agreements with its affiliates for expenses including allocations for occupancy costs, data processing, 
compensation, advertising and promotion, and other administrative expenses, which the Company incurs on behalf of its 
affiliates and is reimbursed. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the amount payable to the Company was $28,017 and $25,828, 
respectively. The amount of expenses incurred by and reimbursed to the Company for the years ended December 31, 2017, 
2016, and 2015 were $88,296, $85,150 and $61,317, respectively. The Company also has an agreement with SFG for 
employee compensation related expenses which SFG incurs on behalf of the Company. The amount of expenses incurred by 
and reimbursed to SFG by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $20,676, $22,637 and 
$39,038, respectively. The amount payable to SFG at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $13,432 and $7,176, respectively. 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company also had a receivable from SFG, in the amount of $22,066, related to the advance of 
future years’ defined benefit plan expenses.   

 

 In 2015, the Company sold an additional group variable universal life policy to SFG. The Company received premiums of 
$7,664, $7,664 and $7,664 in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, for these policies. No claims were paid during 2017, 2016 
and 2015. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, reserves held under these policies were $66,076 and $53,495, respectively. 

 
The Company is a distributor of its affiliates’ insurance and other products. Product offerings include credit life and disability, 
accidental death, collateral protection insurance, guarantee auto protection and debt cancellation. The Company earned 
$50,530, $45,195 and $42,632 in commission revenues related to the sales and servicing of these products for the years 
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, commission revenue due to the 
Company from its affiliates was $1,049 and $523, respectively. 
 
Certain of the Company’s affiliates distribute its insurance products. Product offerings include individual life and annuity and 
group life insurance. The Company paid $8,974, $10,276 and $8,471 in commission expenses related to the sales of these 
products for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
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(20) Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
 

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as any change in equity originating from non-owner transactions. The Company has 
identified those changes as being comprised of net income, adjustments to pension and other postretirement plans, unrealized 
gains (losses) on securities and related adjustments. 

 
The components of other comprehensive income (loss) and related tax effects, other than net income are illustrated below: 
 

 December 31, 2017 

 Before  Tax benefit  Net of 

 tax  (expense)  tax 

Other comprehensive income (loss):      

 Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during      

  the period $ 382,087  $ (132,272)  $ 249,815 

 Less: Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses)      

  included in net income  (47,947)   16,781   (31,166) 

 Unrealized gains (losses) on securities – OTTI  (2,270)   795   (1,475) 

 Adjustment to deferred policy acquisition costs  (190,594)   66,708   (123,886) 

 Adjustment to reserves  27,240   (9,534)   17,706 

 Adjustment to unearned premiums and fees  168,605   (59,012)   109,593 

 Adjustment to pension and other postretirement plans  (2,045)   716   (1,329) 

 Less: Reclassification adjustment for pension and other       

  postretirement plans expenses included in net income  60   (21)   39 

  Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 335,136  $ (115,839)  $ 219,297 

 

 December 31, 2016 

 Before  Tax benefit  Net of 

 tax  (expense)  tax 

Other comprehensive income (loss):      

 Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during      

  the period $ 141,773  $ (49,407)  $ 92,366 

 Less: Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses)      

  included in net income  (17,634)   6,172   (11,462) 

 Unrealized gains (losses) on securities – OTTI  1,734   (607)   1,127 

 Adjustment to deferred policy acquisition costs  (82,037)   28,713   (53,324) 

 Adjustment to reserves  12,032   (4,211)   7,821 

 Adjustment to unearned premium and fees  72,377   (25,332)   47,045 

 Adjustment to pension and other postretirement plans  (69)   24   (45) 

 Less: Reclassification adjustment for pension and other       

  postretirement plans expenses included in net income  374   (131)   243 

  Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 128,550  $ (44,779)  $ 83,771 
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(20) Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Continued) 
 

The components of other comprehensive income (loss) and related tax effects, other than net income are illustrated below 
(Continued): 

 

 December 31, 2015 

 Before  Tax benefit  Net of 

 tax  (expense)  tax 

Other comprehensive income (loss):      

 Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during      

  the period $ (481,442)  $ 168,372  $ (313,070) 

 Less: Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses)      

  included in net income  17,801   (6,231)   11,570 

 Unrealized gains (losses) on securities – OTTI  (2,129)   745   (1,384) 

 Adjustment to deferred policy acquisition costs  208,912   (73,119)   135,793 

 Adjustment to reserves  22,718   (7,951)   14,767 

 Adjustment to unearned premiums and fees  (106,247)   37,187   (69,060) 

 Adjustment to pension and other postretirement plans  3,495   (1,223)   2,272 

 Less: Reclassification adjustment for pension and other       

  postretirement plans expenses included in net income  457   (160)   297 

  Other comprehensive income (loss) $ (336,435)  $ 117,620  $ (218,815) 

 

Information regarding amounts reclassified out of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income and related 
tax effects at December 31, 2017 were as follows:  
 

 

Amount 
reclassified 

from 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income  

Consolidated statement of 
operations and comprehensive 

income location 

Net unrealized investment gains (losses):    

 Unrealized gains (losses) $ 56,331  Other net realized investment gains 

 Unrealized OTTI losses – OTTI on fixed maturity securities  (7,553)  OTTI on fixed maturity securities 

 Unrealized OTTI losses – OTTI on other securities  (831)  Other net realized investment gains 

  Unrealized investment gains (losses), before     
   income tax  47,947   

 Deferred income tax benefit (expense)   (16,781)   

   Unrealized investment gains (losses), net of    

    income tax $ 31,166   

    

Pension and other postretirement plans (1):    

 Amortization of prior service benefit $ (296)  General operating expenses 

 Amortization of net actuarial losses  356  General operating expenses 

  Amortization of pension and other postretirement plan    

   items, before income tax  60   

 Deferred income tax benefit (expense)  (21)   

   Amortization of pension and other postretirement    

    plan items, net of income tax $ 39    

 
(1) These accumulated other comprehensive income items are included in the computation of net periodic benefit costs. See Note 11 for 

further details. 
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(20) Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Continued) 
 

Information regarding amounts reclassified out of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income and related 
tax effects at December 31, 2016 were as follows:  
 

 

Amount 
reclassified 

from 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income  

Consolidated statement of 
operations and comprehensive 

income location 

Net unrealized investment gains (losses):    

 Unrealized gains (losses) $ 18,989  Other net realized investment gains 

 Unrealized OTTI losses – OTTI on fixed maturity securities  (777)  OTTI on fixed maturity securities 

 Unrealized OTTI losses – OTTI on other securities  (578)  Other net realized investment gains 

  Unrealized investment gains (losses), before     
   income tax  17,634   

 Deferred income tax benefit (expense)   (6,172)   

   Unrealized investment gains (losses), net of    

    income tax $ 11,462   

    

Pension and other postretirement plans (1):    

 Amortization of prior service benefit $ (355)  General operating expenses 

 Amortization of net actuarial losses  729  General operating expenses 

  Amortization of pension and other postretirement plan    

   items, before income tax  374   

 Deferred income tax benefit (expense)  (131)   

   Amortization of pension and other postretirement    

    plan items, net of income tax $ 243    

 
(1) These accumulated other comprehensive income items are included in the computation of net periodic benefit costs. See Note 11 for 

further details. 
 

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income and related tax effects at December 31 were as follows:  
 

 2017  2016 

Gross unrealized gains $ 780,294  $ 552,724 

Gross unrealized losses  (30,545)   (132,948) 

Gross unrealized losses – OTTI  4,370   6,640 

Adjustment to deferred policy acquisition costs  (313,521)   (122,927) 

Adjustment to reserves  (38,300)   (65,540) 

Adjustment to unearned premiums and fees  242,541   73,936 

Adjustment to pension and other postretirement plans  (7,208)   (11,634) 

  637,631   300,251 

Deferred federal income tax expenses  (217,568)   (99,485) 

 Net accumulated other comprehensive income $ 420,063  $ 200,766 
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(21) Stock Dividends and Capital Contributions 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company declared and paid dividends to SFG consisting of cash in the amount 
of $185,142, and equity securities in the amount of $3,563. The Company declared and paid a dividend to SFG consisting of 
equity securities in the amount of $2,000 during the year ended December 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 
2015 there were no dividends declared or paid to SFG.  
 
Dividend payments by Minnesota Life Insurance Company to its parent cannot exceed the greater of 10% of statutory capital 
and surplus or the statutory net gain from operations as of the preceding year-end, as well as the timing and amount of 
dividends paid in the preceding 12 months, without prior approval from the Department of Commerce. Based on these 
limitations and 2017 statutory results, the maximum amount available for the payment of dividends during 2018 by Minnesota 
Life Insurance Company without prior regulatory approval is $305,993. 

 
During 2017, the Company received a capital contribution consisting of real estate, net of deferred taxes and outstanding debt, 
in the amount of $17,841 from SFG. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 there were no capital contributions 
from SFG to the Company.  
 

(22) Commitments and Contingencies 

 
The Company is involved in various pending or threatened legal proceedings arising out of the normal course of business. In 
the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of such litigation will likely not have a material adverse effect on 
consolidated operations or the financial position of the Company.  
 

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to limit its exposure to loss on any single insured and to recover a portion 
of benefits paid by ceding reinsurance to other insurance companies (reinsurers). To the extent that a reinsurer is unable to 
meet its obligations under the reinsurance agreement, the Company remains liable. The Company evaluates the financial 
condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk to minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer 
insolvencies. Allowances are established for amounts deemed uncollectible.  
 
The Company holds TBA securities with extended forward contract dates which represent a future commitment. As of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, these securities were reported at fair value of $31,714 and $18,847, respectively. 
 
The Company has long-term commitments to fund alternative investments and real estate investments totaling $349,988 as 
of December 31, 2017. The Company estimates that $140,000 of these commitments will be invested in 2018, with the 
remaining $209,988 invested over the next four years. 
 
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had committed to originate mortgage loans totaling $277,240 but had not completed 
the originations. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had committed to purchase fixed maturity securities totaling $71,500 but had not 
completed the purchase transactions. 

 
Prior to November 29, 2017, the Company had a long-term lease agreement with an affiliated company, Capitol City Property 
Management, Inc, for building space in downtown St. Paul. Lease expense, net of sub-lease income, for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $7,499, $8,416, and $8,600, respectively. The Company leases space in downtown 
St. Paul to unaffiliated companies. Commitments to the Company from these agreements are as follows: 2018, $1,593; 2019, 
$1,452; 2020, $1,255; 2021, $901; 2022, $687. Income from these leases was $2,189, $1,912 and $2,151 for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively and is reported in net investment income on the statements of operations 
and comprehensive income.  
 
The Company owns a building in Macon, Georgia, which it partially leases to unaffiliated companies. Income from these leases 
was $169, 131, and $149 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively and is reported in net 
investment income on the statements of operations and comprehensive income. Commitments to the Company from these 
agreements are as follows: 2018, $171; 2019, $123; 2020, $103; 2021, $0; 2022, $0.  
 
The Company also has long-term lease agreements with unaffiliated companies for office facilities and equipment. Minimum 
gross rental commitments under these leases are as follows: 2018, $2,055; 2019, $3,969; 2020, $4,293; 2021, $4,109; 2022, 
$3,790. 
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(22) Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 

 
At December 31, 2017, the Company had guaranteed the payment of $34,800 of policyholder dividends and discretionary 
amounts payable in 2018. The Company has pledged fixed maturity securities, valued at $58,293 to secure this guarantee. 
Pursuant to the Escrow Trust Account Agreement dated December 13, 1991 between Minnesota Life Insurance Company and 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the Company pays irrevocable dividends to certain policyholders of the Company. Policyholders may 
choose the form in which the irrevocable dividend is applied, which include the cash payment of the dividend to the policyholder, 
using the dividend to purchase additional coverage or to increase the cash value of the policy. The policyholders covered by 
the Escrow Trust Account Agreement primarily includes owners of certain individual life insurance policies issued by the 
Company, but does not include all of the dividend-paying insurance policies issued by the Company. 
 
The Company has a 100% coinsurance agreement for its individual disability line. Under the terms of this agreement, assets 
supporting the reserves transferred to the reinsurer are held under a trust agreement for the benefit of the Company in the 
event that the reinsurer is unable to perform its obligations. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the assets held in trust were 
$559,417 and $499,416, respectively. These assets are not reflected on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  
 
Occasionally, the Company will occasionally enter into loan guarantees for general agents. Management does not consider 
an accrual necessary relating to these guarantees. 
 
In connection with the dissolution of MIMLIC Life Insurance Company, the Company has agreed to guarantee all obligations 
and liabilities of MIMLIC Life Insurance Company that arise in the normal course of business. Management does not consider 
an accrual necessary relating to this guarantee.  

 
In connection with the sale of a subsidiary company in 1997, the Company has guaranteed the adequacy of claim reserves 
transferred under the agreement for a period of 10 years subsequent to the date of transfer. To the extent that these reserves 
were over or under provided for, an exchange of the difference is required by the agreement. In 2008, the Company amended 
the agreement to extend the reserve guarantee by an additional 10 years to December 31, 2017. The settlement will be 
completed in 2018 and will be immaterial to the Company’s consolidated financial position. 
 
The Company has minimum compensation agreements with certain sales and employee groups, the terms of which expire at 
various times through 2019. Such agreements, which have been revised from time to time, provide for minimum compensation 
for these groups. The aggregate future minimum commitment under these agreements at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was 
approximately $2,968 and $2,325, respectively. 
 
The Company is contingently liable under state regulatory requirements for possible assessments pertaining to future 
insolvencies and impairments of unaffiliated insurance companies. The Company records a liability for future guaranty fund 
assessments based upon known insolvencies, according to data received from the National Organization of Life and Health 
Insurance Guaranty Association. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, this liability was $1,137 and $1,597, respectively. An asset 
is recorded for the amount of guaranty fund assessments paid, which can be recovered through future premium tax credits. 
This asset was $4,224 and $2,344 as of December 31, 2017 and 2015, respectively. These assets are being amortized over 
a five-year period. 
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(23) Statutory Accounting Practices 

 
The Company’s insurance operations, domiciled in various states, prepare statutory financial statements in accordance with 
the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the regulatory authority of the state of domicile. Prescribed statutory 
accounting practices are those practices that are incorporated directly or by reference in state laws, regulations and general 
administrative rules applicable to all insurance enterprises domiciled in a particular state. Permitted statutory accounting 
practices include practices not prescribed by the domiciliary state, but allowed by the domiciliary state regulatory authority. 
The Company’s insurance operations have no material statutory accounting practices that differ from those of the state of 
domicile or the NAIC accounting practices. See note 21 for discussion of statutory dividend limitations.  

 
The Company and its insurance company subsidiary are required to meet certain minimum risk-based capital (RBC) 
requirements, which are imposed by the respective state of domicile. The formulas within the RBC calculation were developed 
by the NAIC. The RBC requirements were designed to monitor capital adequacy and to raise the level of protection for 
policyholders. Companies that have an RBC ratio below certain trigger points are required to take specified corrective action. 
The Company and its insurance company subsidiaries exceeded the minimum RBC requirements for the years ended 
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 
 
The Company’s insurance operations are required to file financial statements with state and foreign regulatory authorities. The 
accounting principles used to prepare these statutory financial statements follow prescribed and permitted accounting 
principles, which differ from GAAP. On a statutory accounting basis, the Company’s insurance operations reported net income 
of $280,847, $84,001 and $215,860 in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Statutory surplus of these operations was 
$3,059,956 and $2,971,602 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

  
 (24) Subsequent Events 

  
The Company evaluated subsequent events through March 6, 2018, the date these financial statements were issued. There 
were no material subsequent events that required recognition or further disclosure in the Company’s financial statements.  



  

  

75

As shown

on the 

consolidated

Type of investment Cost (2) Value  balance sheet (1)

Fixed maturity securities

     U.S. government  480,172$            495,440$            495,440$            

     Agencies not backed by the full faith and

       credit of the U.S. government 834,859              868,236              868,236              

     Foreign governments 33,421                36,493                36,493                

     Public utilities 1,200,965           1,269,626           1,269,626           

     Asset-backed securities 576,703              590,077              590,077              

     Mortgage-backed securities 3,568,569           3,667,211           3,667,211           

     All other corporate fixed maturity securities 8,748,302           9,181,422           9,181,422           

        Total fixed maturity securities 15,442,991         16,108,505         16,108,505         

Equity securities:

     Common stocks:

        Public utilities 19,162                21,745                21,745                

        Banks, trusts and insurance companies 125,476              152,845              152,845              

        Industrial, miscellaneous and all other 222,827              277,893              277,893              

     Nonredeemable preferred stocks 88,697                92,284                92,284                

        Total equity securities 456,162              544,767              544,767              

Mortgage loans on real estate 3,042,230           xxxxxx 3,042,230           

Real Estate 1,737                  xxxxxx 1,737                  

Policy loans 474,133              xxxxxx 474,133              

Other investments 73,607                xxxxxx 73,607                

Alternative investments 641,322              xxxxxx 641,322              

Derivative investments 500,994              xxxxxx 500,994              

        Total 4,734,023           xxxxxx 4,734,023           

Total investments 20,633,176$       xxxxxx 21,387,295$       

(1)  Fair value for common stocks and fixed maturity securities classified as available-for-sale.

(2)  Original cost reduced by impairment write-downs for equity securities and original cost reduced by

      repayments and impairment write-downs and adjusted for amortization of premiums and accrual of 

      discounts for fixed maturity securities and other investments. 

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Deferred Future policy Other policy Benefits, Amortization

policy benefits, claims and Net claims, losses of deferred Other

acquisition losses, claims Unearned benefits Premium investment and settlement policy operating Premiums

costs and settlement premiums (2) payable revenue (3) income expenses (5) acquisition expenses written (4)

Segment expenses (1) costs

2017:

   Life insurance 1,075,468$    9,284,370$       271,419$       506,924$       2,377,588$    528,135$       2,251,175$    138,543$       875,570$       

   Accident and

      health insurance 21,284           554,134            67,861           70,726           315,053         8,348             118,924         12,987           189,918         

   Annuity 260,732         6,767,241         -                 151                1,617,365      250,199         1,566,522      26,479           212,364         

1,357,484$    16,605,745$     339,280$       577,801$       4,310,006$    786,682$       3,936,621$    178,009$       1,277,852$    -$                   

2016:

   Life insurance 1,118,581$    7,918,841$       340,397$       484,280$       2,317,090$    489,971$       2,230,269$    159,218$       893,371$       

   Accident and

      health insurance 16,214           580,993            59,077           66,362           332,483         9,018             120,944         12,493           188,798         

   Annuity 232,390         5,378,574         -                 151                528,372         227,187         490,913         38,936           204,595         

1,367,185$    13,878,408$     399,474$       550,793$       3,177,945$    726,176$       2,842,126$    210,647$       1,286,764$    -$                   

2015:

   Life insurance 1,065,178$    7,065,168$       346,821$       491,308$       2,299,337$    458,314$       2,140,844$    153,963$       852,632$       

   Accident and

      health insurance 16,256           604,358            53,903           63,802           339,144         9,391             128,053         11,362           185,157         

   Annuity 216,872         4,992,016         26                  205                270,420         221,432         246,582         46,720           193,701         

1,298,306$    12,661,542$     400,750$       555,315$       2,908,901$    689,137$       2,515,479$    212,045$       1,231,490$    -$                   

   (1)  Includes policy and contract account balances

   (2)  Includes unearned policy and contract fees

   (3)  Includes policy and contract fees

   (4)  Applies only to property and liability insurance

   (5)  Includes interest credited to policies and contracts and policyholder dividends

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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Percentage

Ceded to Assumed from of amount

Gross other other Net assumed

amount companies companies amount to net

2017: Life insurance in force  1,184,935,463$    408,503,764$    765,227$           777,196,926$    0.1%

Premiums:

     Life insurance  2,491,277$           624,487$           4,742$               1,871,532$        0.3%

     Accident and health insurance 403,337                90,415               2,131                 315,053             0.7%

     Annuity 1,374,648             -                     -                     1,374,648          0.0%

          Total premiums  4,269,262$            714,902$            6,873$               3,561,233$        0.2%

2016: Life insurance in force  1,177,857,816$    424,182,718$    790,568$           754,465,666$    0.1%

Premiums:

     Life insurance  2,444,925$           623,740$           5,268$               1,826,453$        0.3%

     Accident and health insurance 410,491                80,966               2,959                 332,484             0.9%

     Annuity 312,796                -                     -                     312,796             0.0%

          Total premiums  3,168,212$            704,706$            8,227$               2,471,733$        0.3%

2015: Life insurance in force  1,150,505,390$    346,303,049$    838,901$           805,041,242$    0.1%

Premiums:

     Life insurance  2,379,144$           569,017$           5,889$               1,816,016$        0.3%

     Accident and health insurance 417,503                81,230               2,871                 339,144             0.8%

     Annuity 65,307                  -                     -                     65,307               0.0%

          Total premiums  2,861,954$            650,247$            8,760$               2,220,467$        0.4%

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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